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ABOUT THE COMPANY

PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC NASDAQ PSYS offers an extensive continuum of behavioral

health programs to critically ill children adolescents and adults and is the
largest operator of owned or

leased freestanding psychiatric inpatient facilities with over 10000 beds in 31 states Puerto Rico and the

U.S Virgin Islands PSI also manages freestanding psychiatric inpatient facilities for government agencies

and psychiatric inpatient units within medical/surgical hospitals owned by others

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenue

Income from continuing operations

Net income

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Adjusted EBITDA

Income from continuing operations per diluted shar2

Adjusted income from continuing operations

per diluted share2

Diluted shares used in computing per
share amounts2

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

1765977 1460679

107875 77364

104953 76208

107875 82451

312862 254415

1.92 1.39

Cash and cash equivalents

Working capital

Property and equipment net

Total assets

Total debt

Stockholders equity

51271

168700

836223

2504760

1314420

889885

39970

157831

692135

2178104

1172024

754742

Please see page III for reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated according to GAAP

All results in this document have been adjusted to reflect the 2-for-i stock
split

effected in January 2006

1.92

56267

1.49

55447



LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS

Fellow Stockholders

2008 was another record year for PSI Our revenue for 2008 increased to $1 .766 billion up 20.9% from

1.461 billion for 2007 In 2008 we added more than 900 beds through acquisition and organic growth and

currently operate 95 facilities with over 10000 licensed beds Approximately 400 of the new beds for 2008

resulted from the acquisition of five facilities from United Medical Corporation and we also opened new

120-bed facility in Springfield Illinois The remaining beds were added to existing facilities which contributed

to 8.0% growth in same-facility revenue for 2008 compared with 6.7% for 2007 The increase in same-facility

revenue for 2008 included the impact of 2.6% increase in
patient days for the year and 5.2% increase in

revenue per patient day

Consistent with PSIs historical results

our same-facility revenue growth

produced operating leverage that again

enabled us to increase profit margins

Our same-facility EBITDA increased to

20.8% of same-facility revenue for 2008

from 20.5% for the prior year

Consolidated adjusted EBITDA

increased 23.0% for 2008 to $312.9

million or 17.7% of revenue from

$254.4 million or 17.4% of revenue for 2007 Income from continuing operations increased 30.8% for 2008

to $107.9 million or 6.1% of revenue from
adjusted income from continuing operations of $82.5 million or

5.6% of revenue for 2007 Income from continuing operations per
diluted share increased 28.9% to $1.92

for 2008 from adjusted income from continuing operations per diluted share of $1.49 for 2007

The Companys increased profitability for 2008 and substantial operating cash flow drove improvement in our

leverage ratios at year end Net debt to total capitalization improved 130 basis points to 58.7% at the end of

2008 from the end of 2007 while net debt to consolidated adjusted EBITDA improved to 4.0 from 4.4

Our guidance
for

earnings per diluted share for 2009 is in
range

of $2.24 to $2.32 reflecting anticipated

organic earnings growth of 17% to 21% compared with 2008 This growth is based on expected same-facility

revenue growth for the
year in the mid-single digits While one of our priorities is to increase occupancy of

existing beds we also
expect same-facility revenue to benefit from the addition of new beds during the year

We plan to add approximately 400 beds to existing facilities during 2009

Adjusted EBITDA In millions

2004

2005

2006

2007

$60

We remain fully confident in proven business model that has created strong consistent and long-term

record of growth Industry dynamics remain compelling We are the
largest provider in fragmented

capacity-constrained industry that is

expected to experience steadily

increasing long-term demand Recent

federal legislation to expand the State

Childrens Health Insurance Program

SCHIP and the Mental Health and

Addiction Equity Parity Act of 2008

provides additional support for ongoing

industry expansion

$105

$313

$171

$254

2008



Proactive Transparent and Company-Wide Commitment to the Highest Quality Care

PSIs commitment to providing our patients the highest quality of care is absolute The safety of our patients

is our first priority and we are organized from the Board to the individual facility and to each individual

employee to facilitate continuous improvement in quality safety and risk management Over the
years we

have made substantial and ongoing investment in building deep infrastructure to train all PSI employees

in compliance and quality and to

Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations per Share

measure ana anaiyze perrormance

continuously We have also been
2004 $0.56

actively involved in developing and

participating
in pilot study for The 2005 $0.84

Joint Commissions co me
2006 $1.13

quality initiative This innovative and

transformative quality program will 2007 $1 49

enable inpatient psychiatric care

providers to benchmark their results to
2008 $1.92

inpatient
facilities across the country as

critical step in the process
of continuously improving the quality of patient treatment The initiative will also

give the public access to documented performance information heretofore unavailable that can be used by

patients
their families and payers

in their search for facilities that best serve their needs In addition to our

efforts to ensure quality care we operate
in highly regulated industry with nearly continuous oversight

During 2008 our facilities underwent approximately 700 regulatory
and accreditation surveys

well over one-

third of which had no deficiencies of any kind and less than 1% of which had significant findings

Dave Guymon who was CEO of our Manatee Palms Youth Services facility in Bradenton Florida passed away

in September 2008 Despite suffering from ALS Dave pioneered dynamic and innovative changes in patient

care and transformed Manatee Palms into an exemplary facility We will miss Davids passion
and commitment

to patient care

In the
past year our facilities admitted 165000 patients

who accounted for 2.7 million patient days As the

individual charged with leading PSI take full responsibility when the patient care we provide falls short of

expectations deeply regret
and apologize for any action or inaction by anyone at PSI that compromises

patient care or results in harm to patient
While we do not tolerate any lapse in the quality

of our care we

also recognize the tremendous value of the care our highly
skilled teams provide

thousands of patients every

day and night Because of the empathy and commitment of these professionals throughout PSI we believe

the high quality
of our care will continue to differentiate the Company in the healthcare market

During 2008 the individuals who comprise the PSI team again demonstrated their extraordinary capabilities

We thank them for their hard work their skill and their dedication We also thank you our fellow

stockholders for your investment in PSI and for sharing our confidence in PSIs potential
for continued

profitable growth

Best Regards

Joey Jacobs

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer



Psychiatric Solutions Inc Unaudited

Year Ended December 31

In thousands except per share amounts

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted Income

from Continuing Operations

Net income

Plus reconciling items

Discontinued operations net of taxes

Provision for income taxes

Income from continuing operations

before income taxes

Loss on refinancing long-term debt

Adjusted income from continuing operations

before income taxes

Adjusted provision for income taxes

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations

per diluted share

Adjusted income from continuing operations

per diluted share

Diluted shares used in computing per
share amounts

Reconciliation of Income from Continuing

Operations to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDM

Income from continuing operations

Provision for income taxes

Interest expense

Depreciation and amortization

EBITDA

Other
expenses

Share-based compensation

Loss on refinancing long-term debt

Adjusted EBITDA

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

$104953 76208 60632 27154 $16801

2922 1156 377 1687 1085

66117 47034 37011 15956 9633

173992 124398 98020 41423 25349

8179 21871 6407

173992 132577 98020 63294 31756

66117 50126 37011 24381 12068

$107875 82451 61009 38913 $19688

1.92 1.39 1.13 0.55 0.45

1.92 1.49 1.13 0.84 0.56

56267 55447 54169 46296 35146

$107875 77364 61009 $25467 $15716

66117 47034 37011 15956 9633

78648 74978 40303 27056 18964

40309 30756 20333 14607 9693

292949 230132 158656 83086 54006

19913 16104 12535

8179 21871 6407

$312862 $254415 $171191 $104957 $60413

Adjusted income from continuing operations adjusted income from continuing operations per diluted share EBITDA and

adjusted EBITDA the adjusted items are non-GAAP financial measures PSI believes the adjusted items provide better

measures of the Companys ongoing performance and better comparability to prior periods because they exclude items not related

to PSIs core business operations and are not influenced by fluctuations in PSIs stock price EBITDA is defined as income from

continuing operations before interest expense net of interest income income taxes depreciation and amortization Adjusted

EBITDA is also before share-based compensation and other items included in the caption above labeled Other expenses These

other expenses may occur in future periods but the amounts recognized can vary significantly
from period to period and do not

directly relate to the ongoing operations of our health care facilities PSIS management relies on adjusted EBITDA as the primary

measure to review and assess the operating performance of its facilities and their management teams PSI believes it is useful to

investors to provide disclosures of its operating results on the same basis as that used by management Management and investors

also review adjusted EBITDA to evaluate PSIs overall performance and to compare PSIs current operating results with

corresponding periods and with other companies in the health care industry The adjusted items should not be considered in

isolation or as substitute for net income operating cash flows or other cash flow statement data determined in accordance with

the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and the items excluded from the adjusted items are significant

components in understanding and assessing PSIs financial performance Because the adjusted items are not measurements

determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and are thus susceptible to varying

calculations they may not be comparable as presented to other similarly titled measures of other companies

III



COMPARATIVE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in cumulative total stockholder return on the

Companys common stock with the performance of broad equity market indicator the Nasdaq Stock

Market Index and the performance of published industry index or peer group the Nasdaq Health

Services Index The graph assumes the investment on December 31 2003 of $100 and that all dividends were

reinvested at the time they were paid The table following the graph presents the corresponding data for

December 31 2003 and each subsequent fiscal
year

end All sales prices have been adjusted to reflect the two-

for-one stock split effected in the form of stock dividend on January 2006

Comparison of 5-Year Cumulative Total Return

12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06

s--Psychiatric Solutions Inc --Nasdaq Stock Market Index --Nasdaq Health Services Index

12/31/07 12/31/08

12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08

Psychiatric Solutions Inc 100 174.93 281.05 359.04 311.00 266.51

Nasdaq Stock Market Index 100 108.84 111.16 122.11 132.42 63.80

Nasdaq Health Services Index 100 126.03 173.28 173.05 226.18 165.07

Iv
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PART

Unless the context otherwise requires all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to Psychiatric Solutions the

Company we us or our mean Psychiatric Solutions Inc and its consolidated subsidiaries and all shares and per share

amounts have been adjusted to reflect 2-for-i stock split that was effected on January 2006

Item Business

Overview

We are leading provider of inpatient behavioral health care services in the United States We operate 95 inpatient behavioral

health care facilities with more than 10000 beds in 31 states Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands In 2008 we completed the

acquisition of five inpatient behavioral health care facilities from United Medical Corporation UMC which are located in Florida

and Kentucky and include approximately 400 beds and we opened Lincoln Prairie Behavioral Health Center 120-bed inpatient

facility in Springfield Illinois In January 2009 we opened Rolling Hills Hospital an 80-bed inpatient facility in Franklin Tennessee

We generated revenue of approximately $1.8 billion and $1.5 billion respectively for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

We believe that our primary focus on the provision of inpatient behavioral health care services allows us to operate more efficiently

and provide higher quality care than our competitors

Our inpatient behavioral health care facilities accounted for 90.0% of our revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 These

inpatient facilities offer wide range of inpatient behavioral health care services for children adolescents and adults We offer these

services through combination of acute inpatient behavioral facilities and residential treatment centers RTCs Our acute inpatient

behavioral facilities provide the most intensive level of care including 24-hour skilled nursing observation and care daily

interventions and oversight by psychiatrist and intensive highly coordinated treatment by physician-led team of mental health

professionals Our RTCs offer longer term treatment programs primarily for children and adolescents with long-standing chronic

behavioral health problems Our RTCs provide physician-led multi-disciplinary treatments that address the overall medical

psychiatric social and academic needs of the patients

Other behavioral health care services accounted for 10.0% of our revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 This portion of

our business primarily consists of our contract management and employee assistance program EAP businesses Our contract

management business involves the development organization and management of behavioral health care programs within

medicallsurgical hospitals Our EAP business contracts with employers to assist employees and their dependents with resolution of

behavioral conditions or other personal concerns

Psychiatric Solutions was incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1988 Our principal executive offices are located at 6640

Carothers Parkway Suite 500 Franklin Tennessee 37067 Our telephone number is 615 312-5700 Information about Psychiatric

Solutions and our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission can be found at our website at www.psysolutions.com

Our Industry

According to the National Association of Psychiatric Health Systems 2007 Annual Survey millions of Americans of all ages

experience psychiatric and substance abuse conditions every year

The behavioral health care industry is extremely fragmented with only few large national providers During the 1990s the

behavioral health care industry experienced significant contraction following long period of growth The reduction was largely

driven by third-party payors who decreased reimbursement implemented more stringent admission criteria and decreased the

authorized length of stay We believe this reduced capacity has resulted in an underserved patient population

Reduced capacity mental health parity legislation and increased demand for behavioral health care services have resulted in

favorable industry fundamentals over the last several years Behavioral health care providers have enjoyed significant improvement in

reimbursement rates increased admissions and stabilized lengths of stay According to the National Association of Psychiatric Health

Systems payments for the inpatient care of behavioral health and addictive disorders have increased nationwide Inpatient admissions

increased 3.4% from 2005 to 2006 and total inpatient days of care increased 6.5% from 2005 to 2006 In order to meet strong demand
facilities have been adding beds resulting in 1% increase in licensed beds within existing facilities Following rapid decrease

during the early 1990s inpatient average length of stay stabilized between and 11 days from 1997 to 2006 In 2006 and 2005 the

inpatient average length of stay held steady at 9.6 days The average inpatient net revenue per day for facilities with more than 100

beds increased from $596 in 2005 to $622 in 2006 The average RTC net revenue per day for facilities with more than 100 beds

increased from $303 in 2005 to $330 in 2006 Total patient days of care increased 4% from 2005 to 2006 for RTC facilities with an

average length of stay of 142 days in 2006

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe the following competitive strengths contribute to our strong market share in each of our markets and will enable us to

continue to successfully grow our business and increase our profitability



Singular focus on behavioral health care We focus primarily on the provision of inpatient behavioral health care services

We believe this allows us to operate more efficiently and provide higher quality care than our competitors In addition we

believe our focus and reputation have helped us to develop important relationships and extensive referral networks within our

markets and to attract and retain qualified behavioral health care professionals

Strong and sustainable market position Our inpatient facilities have an established presence in each of our markets and

many of our owned and leased inpatient facilities have the leading market share in their respective service areas We believe that

the relationships and referral networks we have established will further enhance our presence within our markets In addition

many of the states in which we operate require certificate of need to open behavioral health care facility which may be

difficult to obtain and may further preclude new market participants

Demonstrated ability to identify and integrate acquisitions We attribute part of our success in integrating acquired inpatient

facilities to our rigorous due diligence review of these facilities prior to completing the acquisitions as well as our ability to

retain key employees at the acquired facilities We employ disciplined acquisition strategy that is based on defined criteria

including quality of service return on invested capital and strategic benefits We also have comprehensive post-acquisition

strategic plan to facilitate the integration of acquired facilities that includes improving facility operations retaining and

recruiting psychiatrists and expanding the breadth of services offered by the facilities

Diversfiedpayor mix and revenue base For the year ended December 31 2008 we received 29.1% of our revenue from

Medicaid 12.6% from Medicare 30.3% from HMO/PPO commercial and private payors 15.2% from various state agencies

and 12.8% from other payors As we receive Medicaid payments from more than 40 states we do not believe that we are

significantly affected by changes in reimbursement policies in any one state Substantially all of our Medicaid payments relate to

the care of children and adolescents We believe that children and adolescents are patient class that is less susceptible to

reductions in reimbursement rates For the year ended December 31 2008 no single inpatient facility represented more than

2.8% of our revenue

Experienced management team Our senior management team has extensive experience in the health care industry Joey

Jacobs our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer has over 30 years of experience in various capacities in the health

care industry Our senior management operates as cohesive complementary group and has extensive operating knowledge of

our industry and understanding of the regulatory environment in which we operate Our senior managers employ conservative

fiscal policies and have successful track record in both operating our core business and integrating acquired assets

Cons istent free cash flow and minimal maintenance capital requirements We generate consistent free cash flow by profitably

operating our business actively managing our working capital and having low maintenance capital expenditure requirements As

the behavioral health care business does not require the procurement and replacement of expensive medical equipment our

maintenance capital expenditure requirements are less than that of other facility-based health care providers Historically our

maintenance capital expenditures have amounted to approximately 2% to 3% of our revenue In addition our accounts

receivable management is less complex than medical/surgical hospital providers because there are fewer billing codes for

inpatient behavioral health care facilities

Our Growth Strategy

We have experienced significant growth in our operations as measured by the number of our facilities admissions patient days

revenue and net income We intend to continue successfully growing our business and increasing our profitability by improving the

performance of our inpatient facilities and through strategic acquisitions The principal elements of our growth strategy are to

Continue to Drive Same-Facility Growth We increased our same-facility revenue by approximately 8.0% for the year ended

December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 Same-facility revenue also increased by approximately

6.7% 9.0% and 8.0% for the years ended December 31 2007 2006 and 2005 respectively compared to the immediately

preceding years Same-facility revenue refers to the comparison of the inpatient facilities we owned during prior period with

the comparable period in the subsequent period adjusted for closures and combinations for comparability purposes We intend

to continue to increase our same-facility revenue by increasing our admissions and patient days and obtaining annual

reimbursement rate increases We plan to accomplish these goals by

expanding bed capacity at our facilities to meet demand

expanding our services and developing new services to take advantage of increased demand in select markets where we

operate

building and expanding relationships that enhance our presence in local and regional markets



developing formal marketing initiatives and expanding referral networks and

continuing to provide high quality service

Grow Through Strategic Acquisitions Our industry is highly fragmented and we plan to selectively pursue
the acquisition of

additional inpatient behavioral health care facilities There are approximately 500 freestanding acute and residential treatment

facilities in the United States and the top two providers operate approximately one-third of these facilities We believe there are

number of acquisition candidates available at attractive valuations and we have potential acquisitions that are in various stages

of development and consideration We believe our focus on inpatient behavioral health care provides us with strategic

advantage when assessing potential acquisition We employ disciplined acquisition strategy that is based on defined criteria

including quality of service return on invested capital and strategic benefits

Enhance Operating Efficiencies Our management team has extensive experience in the operation of multi-facility health care

services companies We intend to focus on improving our profitability by optimizing staffing ratios controlling contract labor

costs and reducing supply costs through group purchasing We believe that our focus on efficient operations increases our

profitability and will attract qualified behavioral health care professionals and patients

Services

Inpatient Behavioral Health Care Facilities

We operate 88 owned and leased inpatient behavioral health care facilities These facilities offer wide range
of inpatient

behavioral health care services for children adolescents and adults Our inpatient facilities work closely with mental health

professionals including licensed professional counselors therapists and social workers psychiatrists non-psychiatric physicians

emergency rooms school systems insurance and managed care organizations company-sponsored EAP and law enforcement and

community agencies that interact with individuals who may need treatment for mental illness or substance abuse Many of our

inpatient facilities have mobile assessment teams who travel to prospective clients in order to assess their condition and determine if

they meet established criteria for inpatient care Those clients not meeting the established criteria for inpatient care may qualify for

outpatient care or less intensive level of care also provided by the facility During the year ended December 31 2008 our inpatient

behavioral health care facilities produced approximately 90.0% of our revenue

Through the diversity of programming and levels of care available patient can receive seamless treatment experience from

acute care to residential long-term care to group
home living to outpatient treatment This seamless care system provides the

continuity of care needed to step the patient down and allow the patient to develop and use successful coping skills and treatment

interventions to sustain long-term treatment success Treatment modalities include comprehensive assessment multi-disciplinary

treatment planning including the patient and family group individual and family therapy services medical and dental services

educational services recreational services and discharge planning services Specialized interventions such as skills training include

basic daily living skills social skills work/school adaptation skills and symptom management skills Collateral consultations are

provided to significant others such as family members teachers employers and other professionals when needed to help the patient

successfully reintegrate back into his or her world Services offered and disorders treated at our inpatient facilities include

bipolar disorder rehabilitation care

major depression day treatment

schizophrenia detoxification

attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder developmentally delayed disorders

impulse disorder therapeutic foster care

oppositional and conduct disorders neurological disorders

partial hospitalization rapid adoption services

intensive outpatient day treatment

acute eating disorders independent living skills

reactive attachment disorder vocational training

dual diagnosis
chemical dependency

Acute inpatient hospitalization is the most intensive level of care offered and typically involves 24-hour skilled nursing observation

and care daily oversight by psychiatrist and intensive highly coordinated treatment by physician-led team of mental health

professionals Every patient admitted to our acute inpatient facilities is assessed by medical doctor within 24 hours of admission

Patients with non-complex medical conditions are monitored during their stay by the physician and nursing staff at the inpatient

facility Patients with more complex medical needs are referred to more appropriate facilities for diagnosis and stabilization prior to

treatment Patients admitted to our acute inpatient facilities also receive comprehensive nursing and psychological assessments within

24 to 72 hours of admission Oversight and management of patients medication is performed by licensed psychiatrists on staff at the

facility and individual family and group therapy is performed by licensed counselors as appropriate to the patients assessed needs

Education regarding patients illnesses is also provided by trained mental health professionals



Our RTCs provide longer term treatment programs for children and adolescents with long-standing behavioral/mental health

problems Twenty-four hour observation and care is provided in our RTCs along with individualized therapy that usually consists of

one-on-one sessions with licensed counselor as well as process and rehabilitation group therapy Another key component of the

treatment of children and adolescents in our inpatient facilities is family therapy Participation of the childs or adolescents immediate

family is strongly encouraged in order to heighten the chance of success once the resident is discharged Medications for residents are

managed by licensed psychiatrists while they remain at the inpatient facility Our RTCs also provide academic programs conducted by

certified teachers to child and adolescent residents These programs are individualized for each resident based on analysis by the

teacher upon admission Upon discharge academic reports are forwarded to the residents school Specialized programs for children

and adolescents in our RTCs include programs for sexually reactive children sex offenders reactive attachment disorders and

children and adolescents who are developmentally delayed with behavioral component Our RTCs often receive out-of-state referrals

to their programs due to the lack of specialized programs for these disorders within patients own state

Our inpatient facilities programs have been adapted to the requests of various sources to provide services to patients with multiple

issues and specialized needs Our success rate with these difficult to treat cases has expanded our network of referrals The services

provided at each inpatient facility are continually assessed and monitored through an ongoing quality improvement program The

purpose of this program is to strive for the highest quality of care possible for individuals with behavioral health issues and includes

regular site visits to each inpatient facility in order to assess compliance with legal and regulatory standards as well as adherence to

our compliance program Standardized performance measures based on national outcomes measurement database comparing our

inpatient facilities performance with national norms are also reported and reviewed and corrective steps are taken when necessary

Other Behavioral Health Care Services

Other behavioral health care services accounted for 10.0% of our revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 This portion of

our business primarily consists of our contract management and EAP businesses Our contract management business involves the

development organization and management of behavioral health care and rehabilitation programs within medicallsurgical hospitals

Our EAP business contracts with employers to assist employees and their dependents with resolution of behavioral conditions or other

personal concerns

Through our contract management business we develop organize and manage behavioral health care programs within third-party

general medical/surgical hospitals Our broad range of services can be customized into individual programs that meet specific

inpatient facility and community requirements Our contract management business is dedicated to providing high quality programs

with integrity innovation and sufficient flexibility to develop customized individual programs We provide our customers with

variety of management options including clinical and management infrastructure personnel recruitment staff orientation and

supervision corporate consultation and performance improvement plans Under the management contracts the hospital is the actual

provider of the mental health services and utilizes its own facilities support services and generally its own nursing staff in connection

with the operation of its programs Our management contracts generally have an initial term of two to five years and are extended for

successive one-year periods unless terminated by either party

Through our EAP business we contract with various employers to provide their employees with services that help resolve their

personal wellness and professional concerns that can adversely affect workplace productivity Our counselors typically provide

assessment support and if needed referrals to additional resources We also help human resources and management to address issues

that might compromise an employers ability to achieve their business objectives

Seasonailty of Services

Our inpatient behavioral health care facilities typically experience lower patient volumes and revenue during the summer months

the year-end holidays and other periods when school is out of session

Marketing

Our local and regional marketing is led by clinical and business development representatives at each of our inpatient facilities

These individuals manage relationships among variety of referral sources in their respective communities Our national marketing

efforts are focused on increasing the census at our RTCs from various state referral sources by developing relationships and

identifing contracting opportunities in their respective territories

Competition

The inpatient behavioral health care facility industry is highly fragmented and is subject to continual changes in the method in

which services are provided and the types of companies providing such services We primarily compete with regional and local

competitors Some of our competitors are owned by governmental agencies and supported by tax revenue and others are owned by

nonprofit corporations and may be supported to large extent by endowments and charitable contributions

In addition we compete for patients with other providers of mental health care services including other inpatient behavioral health

care facilities medical/surgical hospitals independent psychiatrists and psychologists We also compete with hospitals nursing



homes clinics physicians offices and contract nursing companies for the services of registered nurses We attempt to differentiate

ourselves from our competition through our singular focus on the provision of behavioral health care services our reputation for the

quality of our services recruitment of first rate medical staff and accessibility to our facilities In addition we believe that the active

development of our referral network and participation in selected managed care provider panels enable us to successfully compete for

patients in need of our services

Reimbursement

Our inpatient owned and leased facilities receive payment for services from the federal government primarily under the Medicare

program state governments primarily under their respective Medicaid programs private insurers including managed care plans and

directly from patients Most of our inpatient behavioral health facilities are certified as providers of Medicare and/or Medicaid

services by the appropriate governmental authorities The requirements for certification are subject to change and in order to remain

qualified for such programs it may be necessary for us to make changes from time to time in our inpatient facilities equipment

personnel and services If an inpatient facility loses its certification it will be unable to receive payment for patients under the

Medicare or Medicaid programs Although we intend to continue participating in such programs there can be no assurance that we

will continue to qualif for participation

Patient service revenue is recorded net of contractual adjustments at the time of billing by our patient accounting systems at the

amount we expect to collect This amount is calculated automatically by our patient accounting systems based on contractually

determined rates or amounts reimbursable by Medicare or Medicaid under provisions of cost or prospective reimbursement formulas

or combination thereof Most payments are determined based on negotiated per-diem rates An estimate of contractual allowances is

manually recorded for unbilled services based upon these contractually negotiated rates

Any co-payments and deductibles due from patients are estimated at the time of admission based on the patients insurance plan

and payment of these amounts is requested prior to discharge If the payment is not received prior to discharge or completion of

service collection efforts are made through our normal billing and collection process

Our consolidated days sales outstanding were 51 and 53 for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Medicare

Medicare provides insurance benefits to persons age 65 and over and some disabled persons Current freestanding psychiatric

hospitals and certified psychiatric units of acute care hospitals are transitioning to reimbursement based on an inpatient services

prospective payment system PPS from reimbursement based on reasonable cost basis

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services CMS implemented three-year transition period to PPS starting with the cost

reporting periods beginning on or after January 2005 PPS was fully implemented for cost reporting periods beginning on or after

January 2008 Inpatient psychiatric facilities received 3.7% increase in the Medicare prospective base rate beginning July 2008

Annual updates are anticipated

Under CMS regulations the PPS base
per

diem is adjusted for specific patient and facility characteristics that increase the cost of

patient care Payment rates for individual inpatient facilities are adjusted to reflect geographic differences in wages and rural

providers and teaching facilities receive an increased payment adjustment Additionally the base rate is adjusted by factors that

influence the cost of an individual patients care such as each patients diagnosis related group certain other medical and psychiatric

comorbidities i.e other coexisting conditions that may complicate treatment and age Because the cost of inpatient behavioral care

tends to be greatest at admission and few days thereafter the per diem rate is adjusted for each day to reflect the number of days the

patient has been in the facility Medicare pays this per diem amount as adjusted regardless of whether it is more or less than

hospitals actual costs Please see wwwcms.hhs.gov/InyatientPsychFacilPPS for additional information

Medicare generally deducts from the amount of its payments to hospitals an amount for patient deductible or coinsurance or the

amount that the patient is expected to pay These deductible or coinsurance amounts that are not paid by the patient result in bad

debts Medicare will reimburse 70% of these bad debts to the extent that neither Medicare patient guarantor or any secondary

payor for that patient pays the Medicare coinsurance amount provided that reasonable collection effort or the patients indigence is

documented

Recovery Audit Contractors

In 2005 CMS began using recovery
audit contractors RACs to detect Medicare overpayments not identified through existing

claims review mechanisms The RAC program relies on private auditing firms to examine Medicare claims filed by health care

providers Fees to RACs are paid on contingency basis The RAC program began as demonstration project in three states New
York California and Florida but was made permanent by the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 The act requires that CMS

have RACs in place in all 50 states no later than January 2010



RACs perform post-discharge audits of medical records to identify Medicare overpayments resulting from incorrect payment

amounts non-covered services incorrectly coded services and duplicate services CMS has given RACs the authority to look back at

claims up to three years old provided that the claim was paid on or after October 2007 Claims identified as overpayments will be

subject to the Medicare appeals process

RACs are paid contingency fee based on the overpayments they identify and collect Therefore we expect that RACs will review

claims submitted by our facilities in an attempt to identify possible overpayments Although we believe the claims for reimbursement

submitted to the Medicare program are accurate we cannot predict whether we will be subject to RAC audits in the future or if

audited what the result of such audits might be

Medicaid

Medicaid joint federal-state program that is administered by the respective states provides hospital benefits to qualifying

individuals who are unable to afford medical care All Medicaid funding is generally conditioned upon financial appropriations to

state Medicaid agencies by the state legislatures As many states face
pressures to control their budgets political pressures

have led

some state legislatures to reduce such appropriations

Some states may adopt substantial health care reform measures that could modify the manner in which all health services are

delivered and reimbursed especially with respect to Medicaid recipients and other individuals funded by public resources As we

receive Medicaid payments from more than 40 states we are not significantly affected by changes in reimbursement policies by any

one state Most states have applied for and been granted federal waivers from current Medicaid regulations in order to allow them to

serve some or all of their Medicaid participants through managed care providers The majority of our Medicaid payments relate to the

care of children and adolescents We believe that children and adolescents are patient class that is less susceptible to reductions in

reimbursement rates

Managed Care and Commercial Insurance Carriers

Our inpatient facilities are also reimbursed for certain behavioral health care services by private payors including health

maintenance organizations HMOs preferred provider organizations PPOs commercial insurance companies employers and

individual private payors Our inpatient facilities offer discounts from established charges to certain large group purchasers of health

care services Generally patients covered by HMOs PPOs and other private insurers will be responsible for certain co-payments and

deductibles which are paid by the patient

The Mental Health Parity Act of 1996 MHPA was federal law that required annual or lifetime limits for mental health

benefits be no lower than the dollar limits for medical/surgical benefits offered by group health plan MHPA applied to group health

plans or health insurance coverage offered in connection with group health plan that offered both mental health and medical/surgical

benefits However it did not require plans to offer mental health benefits MHPA was scheduled to sunset on December 31 2003

however MHPA was extended several times on year to year basis most recently through the end of 2009 The Mental Health and

Addiction Equity Parity Act of 2008 the 2008 MHPA was passed in October of 2008 and will take effect for plan years beginning

after October 2009 The 2008 MHPA will substantially increase the mental health benefits protection afforded by the 1996 Act and

will expand the coverage of MHPA to include substance abuse treatment Approximately 45 states have also enacted some form of

mental health parity laws

Annual Cost Reports

All facilities participating in the Medicare program and some Medicaid programs whether paid on reasonable cost basis or under

PPS are required to meet certain financial reporting requirements Federal regulations require submission of annual cost reports

identifying costs associated with the services provided by each facility to Medicare beneficiaries and Medicaid recipients Annual cost

reports required under Medicare and some Medicaid programs are subject to routine governmental audits which may result in

adjustments to the amounts ultimately determined to be due to us under those reimbursement programs for periods prior to full

implementation of PPS These audits often require several years to reach the final determination of amounts earned under the

programs Nonetheless once the Medicare fiscal intermediaries have issued final Notice of Program Reimbursement NPR after

an audit any disallowances of claimed costs are due and payable within 30 days of receipt of the NPR Providers have rights to

appeal and it is common to contest issues raised in audits of prior years cost reports

Regulation and Other Factors

Licensure Certification and Accreditation

Health care facilities are required to comply with extensive regulation at the federal state and local levels Under these laws and

regulations health care facilities must meet requirements for state licensure as well as additional qualifications to participate in

government programs including the Medicare and Medicaid programs These requirements relate to the adequacy of medical care

equipment personnel operating policies and procedures fire prevention maintenance of adequate records hospital use rate-setting



and compliance with building codes and environmental protection laws Facilities are subject to periodic inspection by governmental

and other authorities to assure continued compliance with the various standards necessary for licensing and accreditation

All of the inpatient facilities operated by us are properly licensed under applicable state laws Most of the inpatient facilities

operated by us are certified under Medicare and/or Medicaid programs and accredited by The Joint Commission functional

prerequisite to participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs Should any of our inpatient facilities lose its accreditation by The

Joint Commission or otherwise lose its certification under the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs that inpatient facility may be

unable to receive reimbursement from the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs If provider for who we provide contract

management services is excluded from
any

federal health care program no services furnished by that provider would be reimbursed

by any federal health care program If one of our facilities is excluded from federal health care program that facility would not be

eligible for reimbursement by any federal health care program

We believe that the inpatient facilities we own and operate are in substantial compliance with current applicable federal state local

and independent review body regulations and standards The requirements for licensure certification and accreditation are subject to

change and in order to remain qualified it may be necessary for us to affect changes in our inpatient facilities equipment personnel

and services Additionally certain of the employed and contracted personnel working at our inpatient facilities are subject to state

laws and regulations governing their particular area of professional practice We assist our managed client hospitals in obtaining

required approvals for new programs

Fraud and Abuse Laws

Participation in the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs is heavily regulated by federal law and CMS regulation If hospital fails

to substantially comply with the numerous federal laws governing that facilitys activities the facilitys participation in the Medicare

and/or Medicaid programs may be terminated and/or civil or criminal penalties may be imposed

The portion of the Social Security Act commonly known as the Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits the payment receipt offer or

solicitation of anything of value with the intent of generating referrals or orders for services or items covered by federal or state

health care program Violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute may be punished by criminal or civil penalties exclusion from federal

and state health care programs imprisonment and damages up to three times the total dollar amount involved While evidence of

intent is prerequisite to any finding that the Anti-Kickback Statute has been violated the statute has been interpreted broadly by

federal regulators and courts to prohibit the payment of anything of value if even one purpose of the payment is to influence the

referral of Medicare or Medicaid business

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 HIPAA broadened the scope of the fraud and abuse laws by

adding several criminal statutes that are not related to receipt of payments from federal health care program HIPAA created civil

penalties for proscribed conduct including upcoding and billing for medically unnecessary goods or services HIPAA established new

enforcement mechanisms to combat fraud and abuse These new mechanisms include bounty system where portion of any

payments recovered is returned to the government agencies as well as whistleblower program HIPAA also expanded the categories

of persons that may be excluded from participation in federal and state health care programs

The Office of Inspector General the OIG of the Department of Health and Human Services HHS is responsible for

identifying fraud and abuse activities in government programs In order to fulfill its duties the OIG performs audits investigations and

inspections

The OIG is authorized to publish regulations outlining activities and business relationships that would be deemed not to violate the

Anti-Kickback Statute These regulations are known as safe harbor provisions The safe harbor provisions delineate standards that

if complied with protect conduct that might otherwise be deemed to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute While compliance with the

safe harbor provisions effectively insulates practice from being found to be in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute the failure of

particular activity to comply with the safe harbor provisions does not mean that the activity violates the Anti-Kickback Statute Rather

failure to comply with the safe harbor provisions simply denies us the opportunity to avail ourselves of the affirmative defense of

compliance We have variety of financial relationships with physicians who refer patients to our owned and leased facilities as well

as to behavioral health programs and facilities we manage including employment contracts independent contractor agreements

professional service agreements and medical director agreements We use our best efforts to structure each of our arrangements

especially each of our business relationships with physicians to fit as closely as possible within the applicable safe harbors We cannot

guarantee that these arrangements will not be scrutinized by government authorities or if scrutinized that they will be determined to

be in compliance with the Anti-Kickback Statute or other applicable laws If we violate the Anti-Kickback Statute we would be

subject to criminal and civil penalties and/or possible exclusion from participating in Medicare Medicaid or other governmental

health care programs

We provide unit management services to acute care hospitals Some of our management agreements provide for fees payable to us

that are not fixed fees but may vary based on revenue the level of services rendered or the number of patients treated in the unit We

believe that the management fees reflect fair market value for the services rendered and are not determined in manner that takes into

account the volume or value of any referrals Our management agreements satisfy many but not all of the requirements of the Personal



Services and Management Contract Safe Harbor We believe our management agreements comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute As

discussed above the preamble to the Safe Harbor regulations specifically indicates that the failure of particular business arrangement

to comply with Safe Harbor does not determine whether the arrangement violates the Anti-Kickback Statute

The Social Security Act also includes provision commonly known as the Stark Law This law prohibits physicians from

referring Medicare and Medicaid patients to health care entities in which they or any of their immediate family members have an

ownership or other financial interest for the furnishing of any designated health services These types of referrals are commonly

known as self referrals violation of the Stark Law may result in denial of payment require refunds to patients and the Medicare

program civil monetary penalties of up to $15000 for each violation civil monetary penalties of up to $100000 for circumvention

schemes civil monetary penalties of up to $10000 for each day that an entity fails to report required information and exclusion from

the Medicare and Medicaid programs and other federal programs and additionally could result in penalties for false claims There are

ownership and compensation arrangement exceptions for many customary financial arrangements between physicians and facilities

including employment contracts personal services agreements leases and recruitment agreements We have structured our financial

arrangements with physicians to comply with the statutory exceptions included in the Stark Law and subsequent regulations

However future Stark Law regulations may interpret provisions of this law in manner different from the manner in which we have

interpreted them We cannot predict the effect such future regulations will have on us

Many states in which we operate also have adopted or are considering adopting laws similar to the Anti-Kickback Statute and/or

the Stark Law Some of these state laws commonly known as all payor laws apply even if the government is not the payor These

statutes typically provide criminal and civil penalties as remedies While there is little precedent for the interpretation or enforcement

of these state laws we have attempted to structure our financial relationships with physicians and others in accordance with these

laws However if state determines that we have violated such law we may be subject to criminal and civil penalties

Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act

The Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act EMTALA is federal law that requires any health care facility with

dedicated emergency department that participates in the Medicare program to conduct an appropriate medical screening

examination within the capabilities of the facility of every person who presents to the hospitals emergency department for treatment

and if the patient is suffering from an emergency medical condition to either stabilize that condition or make an appropriate transfer

of the patient to facility that can handle the condition The obligation to screen and stabilize emergency medical conditions exists

regardless of patients ability to pay for treatment There are severe penalties under EMTALA if hospital fails to screen or

appropriately stabilize or transfer patient or if the hospital delays appropriate treatment in order to first inquire about the patients

ability to pay Penalties for violations of EMTALA include civil monetary penalties and exclusion from participation in the Medicare

program In addition an injured patient the patients family or medical facility that suffers financial loss as direct result of

another hospitals violation of the law can bring civil suit against the hospital

The regulations adopted to implement EMTALA do not provide an abundance of specific guidance These regulations effectively

limit the types of emergency services that hospital subject to EMTALA is required to provide to those services that are within the

capability of the hospital Although we believe that our inpatient behavioral health care facilities comply with the EMTALA

regulations we cannot predict whether CMS will implement additional requirements in the future or the cost of compliance with any

such regulations

The Federal False Claims Act

The federal False Claims Act prohibits providers from knowingly submitting false claims for payment to the federal government

This law has been used not only by the federal government but also by individuals who bring an action on behalf of the government

under the laws qui tam or whistleblower provisions When private party brings qui tam action under the federal False Claims

Act the defendant will generally not be aware of the lawsuit until the government determines whether it will intervene in the

litigation

Civil liability under the federal False Claims Act can be up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government plus

civil penalties for each separate false claim There are many potential bases for liability under the federal False Claims Act including

claims submitted pursuant to referral found to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute Although liability under the federal False Claims

Act arises when an entity knowingly submits false claim for reimbursement to the federal government the federal False Claims Act

defines the term knowingly broadly Although simple negligence will not give rise to liability under the federal False Claims Act

submitting claim with reckless disregard to its truth or falsity can constitute the knowing submission of false claim From time to

time companies in the health care industry including us may be subject to actions under the federal False Claims Act

HIPAA Transaction Privacy and Security Requirements

HIPAA requires health plans health care clearinghouses and health care providers Covered Entities to use standard data

formats and code sets when electronically transmitting information in connection with various transactions including health claims

and equivalent encounter information health care payment and remittance advice and health claim status and establishes standards to



protect the confidentiality availability and integrity of health information maintained by Covered Entities regardless of format

violation of these regulations could result in civil money penalties of $100 per incident up to maximum of $25000 per person per

year per standard HIPAA also provides for criminal penalties of up to $50000 and one year in prison for knowingly and improperly

obtaining or disclosing protected health information up to $100000 and five years in prison for obtaining protected health

information under false pretenses and up to $250000 and ten years in prison for obtaining or disclosing protected health information

with the intent to sell transfer or use such information for commercial advantage personal gain or malicious harm We believe our

inpatient facilities and where applicable other operations are in substantial compliance with the HIPAA regulations

Other Medical Record Disclosure Laws

Disclosure of health records relating to drug and alcohol treatment is regulated by the Federal Confidentiality of Alcohol and Drug

Abuse Patient Records law This law prohibits the disclosure and use of alcohol and drug abuse patient records that are maintained in

connection with the performance of any federally assisted alcohol and drug abuse program In most cases disclosure is only permitted

when the patient specifically consents to the proposed disclosure Unlike HIPAA consent is required even when the disclosure is for

purposes of treatment payment or health care operations Violations of this law could result in criminal penalties including fines of

up to $500 for first offenses and up to $5000 for each subsequent offense

Additionally some states have laws specifically dealing with the disclosure of medical records related to treatment for substance

abuse and/or mental health disorders Both HIPAA and the Federal Confidentiality of Alcohol and Drug Abuse Patient Records law

provide baseline level of protection for disclosure of health records As such they supersede state laws that are more lenient on the

same subject However the federal laws give way to any state law that provides more stringent protection of health records

Certificates of Need CON
The construction of new health care facilities the acquisition or expansion of existing facilities the transfer or change of ownership

and the addition of new beds services or equipment may be subject to laws in certain states that require prior approval by state

regulatory agencies These CON laws generally require that state agency determine the public need for construction or acquisition of

facilities or the addition of new services Failure to obtain necessary state approval can result in the inability to expand facilities add

services complete an acquisition or change ownership Violations of these state laws may result in the imposition of civil sanctions or

revocation of facilitys license

Corporate Practice of Medicine and Fee Splitting

Some states have laws that prohibit unlicensed persons or business entities including corporations or business organizations that

own hospitals from employing physicians Some states also have adopted laws that prohibit direct and indirect payments or fee-

splitting arrangements between physicians and unlicensed persons or business entities Possible sanctions for violation of these

restrictions include loss of physicians license civil and criminal penalties and rescission of business arrangements These laws vary

from state to state are often vague and have seldom been interpreted by the courts or regulatory agencies Although we attempt to

structure our arrangements with health care providers to comply with the relevant state laws and the few available regulatory

interpretations there can be no assurance that government officials charged with responsibility for enforcing these laws will not assert

that we or certain transactions in which we are involved are in violation of such laws or that such laws ultimately will be interpreted

by the courts in manner consistent with our interpretation

Health Care Industry Investigations

Significant media and public attention has focused in recent years on the hospital industry Because the law in this area is complex

and constantly evolving ongoing or future governmental investigations or litigation may result in interpretations that are inconsistent

with industry practices including our practices It is possible that governmental entities could initiate investigations of or litigation

against inpatient facilities owned leased or managed by us in the future and that such matters could result in significant penalties as

well as adverse publicity

Risk Management

As is typical in the health care industry we are subject to claims and legal actions by patients in the ordinary course of business To

cover these claims we maintain professional malpractice liability insurance and general liability insurance in amounts we believe to

be sufficient for our operations although it is possible that some claims may exceed the scope of the coverage in effect At various

times in the past the cost of malpractice insurance and other liability insurance has fluctuated significantly Therefore there can be no

assurance that such insurance will continue to be available at reasonable prices which would allow us to maintain adequate levels of

coverage

Conversion Legislation

Many states have adopted legislation regarding the sale or other disposition of hospitals operated by not-for-profit entities In other

states that do not have such legislation the attorneys general have demonstrated an interest in these transactions under their general



obligations to protect charitable assets These legislative and administrative efforts primarily focus on the appropriate valuation of the

assets divested and the use of the proceeds of the sale by the not-for-profit seller These reviews and in some instances approval

processes can add additional time to the closing of not-for-profit hospital acquisition Future actions by state legislators or attorneys

general may seriously delay or even prevent our ability to acquire certain hospitals

Regulatory Compliance Program

We are committed to ethical business practices and to operating in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations Our

compliance program was established to ensure that all employees have solid framework for business legal ethical and employment

practices Our compliance program establishes mechanisms to aid in the identification and correction of any actual or perceived

violations of any of our policies or procedures or any other applicable rules and regulations We have appointed Chief Compliance

Officer as well as compliance coordinators at each inpatient facility The Chief Compliance Officer heads our Compliance Committee

which consists of senior management personnel and two members of our board of directors Employee training is key component of

the compliance program All employees receive training during orientation and annually thereafter

Insurance

We are subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits due to the nature of the services we provide Our operations have

professional and general liability insurance in umbrella form for claims in excess of $3.0 million self-insured retention with an

insured excess limit of $50.0 million Effective December 31 2008 we increased this insured excess limit to $75.0 million The self-

insured reserves for professional and general liability risks are calculated based on historical claims demographic factors industry

trends severity factors and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third-party actuary This self-insurance reserve

is discounted to its present value using 5% discount rate This estimated accrual for professional and general liabilities could be

significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and expectations We have utilized our

captive insurance company to manage the self-insured retention While claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and

general liability accruals the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential outcomes often hampers timely adjustments to the

assumptions used in these estimates

Employees

As of December 31 2008 we employed approximately 23000 employees of whom approximately 16000 are full-time

employees Approximately 22000 employees staff our owned and leased inpatient behavioral health care facilities approximately

1100 employees staff our other behavioral health care businesses and approximately 200 are in corporate management including

finance accounting legal operations management development utilization review compliance training and education information

systems member services and human resources We consider our employee relations to be in good standing

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our website which you can find at www.psvsolutions.com our Annual Report on Form

10-K Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to

Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish

it to the Securities and Exchange Commission

Segments

See Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for financial

information about our segments as defined by U.S generally accepted accounting principles

Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers is set forth in Part III Item 10 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is

incorporated herein by reference

Item 1A Risk Factors

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual financial condition results of operations business

and prospects to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K or our other filings with the SEC These risks as well as the risks described in Reimbursement Regulation and Other

Factors and Forward Looking Statements should be carefully considered before making an investment decision regarding us The

risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face and there may be additional risks that we are not presently aware

of or that we currently consider not likely to have significant impact If any of the following risks actually occurred our business

financial condition and operating results could suffer and the trading price of our common stock could decline
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if we fail to comply with extensive laws and government regulations we could suffer penalties lose our licenses or be excluded

from health care programs Also any changes to the laws and regulations governing our business or the interpretation and

enforcement of those laws or regulations could have material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial

condition results of operations and cash flows

The health care industry is required to comply with extensive and complex laws and regulations at the federal state and local

government levels relating to among other things

licensure and certification

relationships with physicians and other referral sources

quality of medical services

qualifications of medical and support personnel

confidentiality of health-related information and medical records

billing for services

cost reporting

operating policies and procedures and

addition of facilities and services

Among these laws are the Anti-Kickback Statute and the Stark Law These laws impact the relationships that we may have with

physicians and other referral sources The OIG has enacted safe harbor regulations that outline practices that are deemed protected

from prosecution under the Anti-Kickback Statute Our current financial relationships with physicians and other referral sources may
not qualify for safe harbor protection under the Anti-Kickback Statute Failure to meet safe harbor does not mean that the

arrangement automatically violates the Anti-Kickback Statute but may subject the arrangement to greater scrutiny Further we cannot

guarantee that practices that are outside of safe harbor will not be found to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute

Additionally we are subject to various routine and non-routine reviews audits and investigations by the Medicare and Medicaid

programs and other federal and state governmental agencies which have various rights and remedies against us if they assert that we

have overcharged the programs or failed to comply with program requirements

If we fail to comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute the Stark Law or other applicable laws and regulations we could be subjected

to criminal penalties civil penalties and exclusion of one or more of our inpatient facilities from participation in the Medicare

Medicaid and other federal and state health care programs In addition if we do not operate our inpatient facilities in accordance with

applicable law our inpatient facilities may lose their licenses or the ability to participate in third party reimbursement programs If we

become subject to material fines or if other sanctions or other corrective actions are imposed on us our business and consolidated

financial condition results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected

While we believe we are in substantial compliance with all applicable laws we do not always have the benefit of significant

regulatory or judicial interpretation of these laws and regulations In the future different interpretations or enforcement of these laws

and regulations could subject our current or past practices to allegations of impropriety or illegality and could have material adverse

effect on our business and consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows by

increasing our liability

increasing our administrative and other costs by requiring us to make changes in our inpatient facilities equipment or personnel

increasing or decreasing mandated services

forcing us to restructure our relationships with referral sources and providers or

requiring us to implement additional or different programs and systems

determination that we have violated these laws or the public announcement that we are being investigated for possible violations

of these laws could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations or prospects and our

business reputation could suffer significantly In addition we are unable to predict whether other legislation or regulations at the

federal or state level will be adopted or the effect such legislation or regulations will have on us
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The economic downturn and continued deficit spending by the federal government and state budget pressures may result in

reduction in payments and covered services Lower reimbursement rates for our services would have an adverse effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations

Approximately 42% of our revenue comes from the Medicare and Medicaid programs Continued deficit spending due to adverse

developments in the United States and global economies bailout programs directed at specific industries and other governmental

measures could lead to reduction in federal government expenditures including governmentally funded programs such as Medicare

and Medicaid In addition state budget pressures may cause reductions in state spending Given that Medicaid outlays are significant

component of state budgets we expect continuing cost containment pressures on Medicaid outlays for our services Reductions in

expenditures for these programs could have material adverse effect on our business and our consolidated financial condition results

of operations and cash flows

Many of the patients admitted to the units we manage for acute care hospitals are eligible for Medicare coverage As result the

providers rely upon payment from Medicare for the services Many of the patients are also eligible for Medicaid payments To the

extent that hospital deems revenue for program we manage to be inadequate it may seek to terminate its contract with us or not

renew the contract Similarly we may not add new management contracts if prospective customers do not believe that such programs

will generate sufficient revenue

Government investigations may reduce our earnings Companies within the health care industry continue to be the subject of

federal and state investigations which increases the risk that we may become subject to additional investigations in the future

Both federal and state government agencies as well as private payors have heightened and coordinated civil and criminal

enforcement efforts as part of numerous ongoing investigations of health care organizations These investigations relate to wide

variety of topics including

cost reporting and billing practices

quality of care

financial relationships with referral sources

medical necessity of services provided and

treatment of indigent patients including emergency medical screening and treatment requirements

The DIG and the U.S Department of Justice have from time to time undertaken national enforcement initiatives that focus on

specific billing practices or other suspected areas of abuse Moreover health care providers are subject to civil and criminal false

claims laws including the federal False Claims Act which allows private parties to bring whistleblower lawsuits against private

companies doing business with or receiving reimbursement under federal health care programs Some states have adopted similar state

whistleblower and false claims provisions Publicity associated with the substantial amounts paid by other health care providers to

settle these lawsuits may encourage our current and former employees and other health care providers to bring whistleblower lawsuits

In July 2008 we received subpoena from the United States Department of Justice requesting certain information regarding one of

our inpatient facilities in Chicago Illinois We have been cooperating and will continue to cooperate with the Department of Justice

in connection with its investigation temporary hold prohibiting admissions to this facility of patients in the custody of the Illinois

Department of Children and Family Services remains in effect We are uncertain when the hold will be removed The outcome of the

Department of Justices inquiry is uncertain and adverse developments or outcomes can result in adverse publicity significant

expenses monetary damages penalties or injunctive relief against us that could significantly reduce our earnings and cash flows and

harm our business

The volatility and disruption of the capital and credit markets and adverse changes in the United States and global economies

could impact our ability to access both available and affordable financing and without such financing we may be unable to

achieve our objectives for strategic acquisitions and internal growth

The United States and global capital and credit markets have been experiencing extreme volatility and disruption at unprecedented

levels Significant declines in the United States housing market during the prior year including falling home prices the increasing

number of foreclosures and higher unemployment rates have resulted in significant write-downs of asset values by financial

institutions including government-sponsored entities and major commercial and investment banks These write-downs have caused

many financial institutions to seek additional capital to merge with larger and stronger institutions and in some cases to fail Many
lenders and institutional investors have reduced and in some cases ceased to provide funding to borrowers including other financial

institutions or have increased their rates significantly compared to the prior year Lehman Brothers Commercial Paper Lehman is

participant in our revolving credit facility As result of Lehmans bankruptcy filing in September 2008 we have not been able to

access Lehmans remaining unfunded commitment of approximately $5.9 million as of December 31 2008
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Our acquisition program requires capital resources Likewise the operation of existing inpatient facilities requires ongoing capital

expenditures for renovation expansion and the upgrade of equipment and technology While we intend to finance strategic

acquisitions and internal growth with cash flows from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility we may require

sources of capital in addition to those presently available to us Due to the existing uncertainty in the capital and credit markets as

well as our level of indebtedness and restrictions set forth in our debt agreements our access to capital may not be available on terms

acceptable to us or at all and this may result in our inability to achieve objectives for strategic acquisitions and capital expenditures

Further in the event we need additional funds and we are unable to raise the necessary funds on acceptable terms our business and

consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected If we are not able to

obtain additional financing then we may not be in position to consummate acquisitions or undertake capital expenditures

As provider of health care services we are subject to claims and legal actions by patients and others

We are subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits due to the nature of the services we provide Facilities acquired by us may
have unknown or contingent liabilities including liabilities related to patient care and liabilities for failure to comply with health care

laws and regulations which could result in large claims and significant defense costs Although we generally seek indemnification

covering these matters from prior owners of facilities we acquire material liabilities for past activities of acquired facilities may exist

and such prior owners may not be able to satisfy their indemnification obligations We are also susceptible to being named in claims

brought related to patient care and other matters at inpatient facilities owned by third parties and operated by us

To protect ourselves from the cost of these claims professional malpractice liability insurance and general liability insurance

coverage is maintained in amounts and with self-insured retention common in the industry We have professional and general liability

insurance in umbrella form for claims in excess of $3.0 million self-insured retention with an insured excess limit of $75.0 million

for all of our inpatient facilities The self-insured reserves for professional and general liability risks are calculated based on historical

claims demographic factors industry trends severity factors and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third-party

actuary This self-insured reserve is discounted to its present value using 5% discount rate This estimated accrual for professional

and general liabilities could be significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and

expectations We have utilized our captive insurance company to manage the self-insured retention While claims are monitored

closely when estimating professional and general liability accruals the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential outcomes

often hampers timely adjustments to the assumptions used in these estimates There are no assurances that our insurance will cover all

claims e.g claims for punitive damages or that claims in excess of our insurance coverage will not arise successful lawsuit

against us that is not covered by or is in excess of our insurance coverage may have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations This insurance coverage may not continue to be available at reasonable cost especially

given the significant increase in insurance premiums generally experienced in the health care industry

We depend on our ability to attract and retainJey management personneL

We are highly dependent on our senior management team which has many years of experience addressing the broad range
of

concerns and issues relevant to our business Our senior management team includes the talented managers of our divisions who have

extensive experience in all aspects of health care We have entered into an employment agreement with Joey Jacobs our Chief

Executive Officer and President which includes severance non-competition and non-solicitation provisions Key man life insurance

policies are not maintained on any member of senior management The loss of key management or the inability to attract retain and

motivate sufficient numbers of qualified management personnel could have material adverse effect on our business and consolidated

financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain various covenants that limit our discretion in the operation of our business

and ourfailure to satisfy requirements in these agreements could have material adverse effrct on our business and consolidated

financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the 7%% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015 the 73/4% Notes

contain among other things covenants that may restrict our ability and our subsidiary guarantors ability to finance future operations

or capital needs or to engage
in other business activities These debt instruments restrict among other things our ability and the ability

of our subsidiaries to

incur additional indebtedness and issue preferred stock

redeem or repurchase stock pay dividends or make other distributions

make certain restricted payments and investments

create liens
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sell assets including the capital stock of our restricted subsidiaries

merge or consolidate with other entities and

engage in transactions with affiliates

In addition our senior secured credit facilities require us to meet specified financial ratios and tests that may require that we take

action to reduce our debt or act in manner contrary to our business objectives Events beyond our control including changes in

general business and economic conditions may affect our ability to meet the specified financial ratios and tests We cannot assure you

that we will meet the specified ratios and tests or that the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities will waive any failure to

meet the specified ratios or tests breach of any of these covenants would result in default under our senior secured credit facilities

and any resulting acceleration thereunder may result in default under the indenture governing the 7%% Notes If an event of default

under our senior secured credit facilities occurs the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding thereunder together with

accrued interest to be immediately due and payable and terminate their commitments to make further extensions of credit including

our ability to borrow under our revolving credit facility Any breach or default under our debt agreements could have material

adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to fulfill other obligations

As of December 31 2008 our total outstanding indebtedness was approximately $1314.4 million Our indebtedness could have

material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial position results of operations and cash flows and impair our ability

to fulfill other obligations in several ways including

increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions

requiring that portion of our cash flow from operations be used for the payment of interest on our debt thereby reducing our

ability to use our cash flow to fund working capital capital expenditures acquisitions and general corporate requirements

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital capital expenditures acquisitions and general

corporate requirements and

placing us at competitive disadvantage to our competitors that have less indebtedness

In the event we incur additional indebtedness the risks described above could increase

Acquired businesses will expose us to increased operating risks

Acquisitions of inpatient facilities and other businesses may strain our resources including management information systems

regulatory compliance and other areas Acquisitions expose us to additional business and operating risk and uncertainties including

our ability to effectively manage the expanded activities

our ability to realize our investment in the increased number of inpatient facilities and other businesses

our exposure to unknown liabilities and

our ability to meet contractual obligations

If we are unable to manage the acquired businesses efficiently or effectively or are unable to attract and retain additional qualified

management personnel to run the expanded operations it could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and

results of operations

If we fail to integrate or improve where necessary the operations of existing and acquired inpatient facilities we may be unable

to achieve our growth strategy which could have material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

We may be unable to maintain or increase the profitability of or operating cash flows at existing behavioral health care facilities

and acquired inpatient facilities fully integrate the operations of an acquired facility or business in an efficient and cost-effective

manner or otherwise achieve the intended benefit of our growth strategy To the extent that we are unable to enroll in third party payor

plans in timely manner following an acquisition we may experience decrease in cash flow or profitability The failure to

effectively integrate any acquired businesses could have material adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial

condition results of operations and cash flows

Hospital acquisitions generally require longer period to complete than acquisitions in many other industries and are subject to

additional regulatory uncertainty Many states have adopted legislation regarding the sale or other disposition of facilities operated by
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not-for-profit entities In other states that do not have specific legislation the attorneys general have demonstrated an interest in these

transactions under their general obligations to protect charitable assets from waste These legislative and administrative efforts focus

primarily on the appropriate valuation of the assets divested and the use of the proceeds of the sale by the non-profit seller In addition

the acquisition of facilities in certain states requires advance regulatory approval under certificate of need or state licensure

regulatory regimes These state-level procedures could seriously delay or even prevent us from acquiring inpatient facilities even after

significant transaction costs have been incurred and prevent us from achieving our growth strategy which could have material

adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We depend on our relationships with physicians and other health care professionals who provide services at our inpatient

facilities

Our business depends upon the efforts and success of the physicians and other health care professionals who provide health care

services at our inpatient facilities and the strength of the relationships with these physicians and other health care professionals

Our business and consolidated financial condition results of operations and cash flowscould be adversely affected if significant

number of physicians or group
of physicians

terminate their relationship with or reduce their use of our inpatient facilities

fail to maintain acceptable quality of care or to otherwise adhere to professional standards

suffer damage to their reputation or

exit the market entirely

Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have material

adverse effrct on our business and stock price

Each year we are required to document and test our internal control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over

financial reporting and report by our independent registered public accounting firm addressing the effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting During the course of our annual testing we may identify deficiencies that we may not be able to remediate in

time to meet the deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for compliance with the requirements of Section 404 In addition if we

fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls as such standards are modified supplemented or amended from time to time we

may not be able to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting in

accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment

could have material adverse effect on our business and stock price

We may be required to spend substantial amounts to comply with legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to privacy and

security ofpatient health information and standards for electronic transactions

There are currently numerous legislative and regulatory initiatives at the federal and state levels addressing patient privacy and

security concerns In particular federal regulations issued under HIPAA require our facilities to comply with standards to protect the

privacy security and integrity of health care information These regulations have imposed extensive administrative requirements

technical and physical information security requirements restrictions on the use and disclosure of individually identifiable patient

health and related financial information and have provided patients with additional rights with respect to their health information

Compliance with these regulations requires substantial expenditures which could negatively impact our financial results In addition

our management has spent and may spend in the future substantial time and effort on compliance measures

Violations of the privacy and security regulations could subject our inpatient facilities to civil penalties of up to $25000 per

calendar year for each provision contained in the privacy and security regulations that is violated and criminal penalties of up to

$250000 per violation for certain other violations Because there is no significant history of enforcement efforts by the federal

government at this time it is not possible to ascertain the likelihood of enforcement efforts in connection with these regulations or the

potential for fines and penalties that may result from the violation of the regulations

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and other materials we have filed or may file with the Securities and Exchange Commission

the SEC as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by our senior

management contain or will contain disclosures that are forwardLlooking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor

provisions of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not

relate solely to historical or current facts and can be identified by the use of words such as maywill expect believe

intend plan estimate project continue should and other comparable terms These forward-looking statements are based
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on the current plans and expectations of management and are subject to number of risks and uncertainties including those set forth

below which could significantly affect our current pians and expectations and future financial condition and results

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information

future events or otherwise Stockholders and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on such forward-looking statements when

evaluating the information presented in our filings and reports

While it is not possible to identif all these factors we continue to face many risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results

to differ from those forward-looking statements including

our substantial indebtedness and adverse changes in credit markets impacting our ability to receive timely additional financing

on terms acceptable to us to fund our acquisition strategy and capital expenditure needs

risks inherent to the health care industry including the impact of unforeseen changes in regulation and the potential adverse

impact of government investigations liabilities and other claims asserted against us

economic downturn resulting in efforts by federal and state health care programs and managed care companies to reduce

reimbursement rates for our services

potential competition that alters or impedes our acquisition strategy by decreasing our ability to acquire additional inpatient

facilities on favorable terms

our ability to comply with applicable licensure and accreditation requirements

our ability to comply with extensive laws and government regulations related to billing physician relationships adequacy of

medical care and licensure

our ability to retain key employees who are instrumental to our operations

our ability to successfully integrate and improve the operations of acquired inpatient facilities

our ability to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

our ability to maintain favorable and continuing relationships with physicians and other health care professionals who use our

inpatient facilities

our ability to ensure confidential information is not inappropriately disclosed and that we are in compliance with federal and

state health information privacy standards

our ability to comply with federal and state governmental regulation covering health care-related products and services on-line

including the regulation of medical devices and the practice of medicine and pharmacology

our ability to obtain adequate levels of general and professional liability insurance

future trends for pricing margins revenue and profitability that remain difficult to predict in the industries that we serve

negative press coverage of us or our industry that may affect public opinion and

those risks and uncertainties described from time to time in our filings with the SEC

We caution you that the factors listed above as well as the risk factors included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not be

exhaustive We operate in continually changing business environment and new risk factors emerge from time to time We cannot

predict such new risk factors nor can we assess the impact if any of such new risk factors on our businesses or the extent to which

any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by any forward-

looking statements

Item Unresolved Staff Comments

We have no unresolved SEC staff comments

Item Properties

We operate 95 owned or leased inpatient behavioral health care facilities with over 10000 licensed beds in 31 states Puerto Rico

and the U.S Virgin Islands The following table sets forth the name location number of licensed beds and the acquisition date for

each of our owned and leased inpatient behavioral health care facilities
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Date

Acquired

Facility
Location Beds Own/Lease Opened

Cypress Creek Hospital Houston TX 96 Own 9/01

West Oaks Hospital Houston TX 160 Own 9/01

Texas NeuroRehab Center Austin TX 151 Own 11/01

Holly Hill Hospital Raleigh NC 152 Own 12/01

Riveredge Hospital Forest Park IL 224 Own 7/02

Whisper Ridge Behavioral Health System Charlottesville VA 96 Lease 4/03

Cedar Springs Hospital
Colorado Springs CO 110 Own 4/03

Laurel Ridge Treatment Center San Antonio TX 194 Own 4/03

San Marcos Treatment Center San Marcos TX 265 Own 4/03

The Oaks Treatment Center Austin TX 118 Own 4/03

Shadow Mountain Behavioral Health System Tulsa OK 192 Own 4/03

Laurel Oaks Behavioral Health Center Dothan AL 115 Own 6/03

Hill Crest Behavioral Health Services Birmingham AL 191 Own 6/03

Gulf Coast Treatment Center Fort Walton Beach FL 168 Own 6/03

Manatee Palms Youth Services Bradenton FL 60 Own 6/03

Havenwyck Hospital
Auburn Hills MI 184 Own 6/03

Heartland Behavioral Health Services Nevada MO 159 Own 6/03

Brynn Marr Hospital Jacksonville NC 88 Own 6/03

Benchmark Behavioral Health System Woods Cross UT 151 Own 6/03

Macon Behavioral Health Treatment Center Macon GA 155 Own 6/03

Manatee Adolescent Treatment Services Bradenton FL 85 Own 6/03

Alliance Health Center Meridian MS 194 Own 11/03

Calvary Center Phoenix AZ 50 Lease 12/03

Brentwood Hospital Shreveport LA 200 Own 3/04

Brentwood Behavioral Healthcare of Mississippi Flowood MS 107 Own 3/04

Palmetto Lowcountry Behavioral Health North Charleston SC 112 Own 5/04

Palmetto Pee Dee Behavioral Health Florence SC 59 Own 5/04

Fort Lauderdale Hospital
Fort Lauderdale FL 100 Lease 6/04

Millwood Hospital Arlington TX 120 Lease 6/04

Pride Institute Eden Prairie MN 36 Own 6/04

Summit Oaks Hospital Summit NJ 126 Own 6/04

North Spring Behavioral Healthcare Leesburg VA 77 Own 6/04

Peak Behavioral Health Services Santa Teresa NM 144 Own 6/04

Alhambra Hospital
Rosemead CA 85 Own 7/05

Belmont Pines Hospital Youngstown OH 81 Own 7/05

Brooke Glen Behavioral Hospital Fort Washington PA 146 Own 7/05

Columbus Behavioral Center Columbus IN 61 Own 7/05

Cumberland Hospital
New Kent VA 136 Own 7/05

Fairfax Hospital Kirkland WA 133 Own 7/05

Fox Run Hospital St Clairsville OH 100 Own 7/05

Fremont Hospital Fremont CA 96 Own 7/05

Heritage Oaks Hospital Sacramento CA 76 Own 7/05

Intermountain Hospital Boise ID 95 Own 7/05

Meadows Hospital Bloomington IN 78 Own 7/05

Mesilla Valley Hospital Las Cruces NM 127 Own 7/05

Montevista Hospital
Las Vegas NV 101 Own 7/05

Pinnacle Pointe Hospital
Little Rock AR 102 Own 7/05

Sierra Vista Hospital Sacramento CA 72 Own 7/05

Streamwood Behavioral Health Streamwood IL 314 Own 7/05

Valle Vista Hospital Greenwood IN 102 Own 7/05

West Hills Hospital Reno NV 95 Own 7/05

Willow Springs Center Reno NV 76 Own 7/05

Canyon Ridge Hospital Chino CA 59 Own 8/05

Atlantic Shores Hospital
Fort Lauderdale FL 72 Own 1/06

Welistone Regional Hospital Jeffersonville iN 100 Own 1/06

Diamond Grove Center Louisville MS 50 Own 5/06

Hickory Trail Hospital DeSoto TX 86 Own 7/06

National Deaf Academy Mount Dora FL 132 Own 7/06
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Windmoor Healthcare Clearwater FL 100 Own 9/06

University Behavioral Center Orlando FL 104 Own 9/06

Sandy Pines Hospital Tequesta FL 80 Own 9/06

Cumberland Hall of Chattanooga Chattanooga TN 64 Own 12/06

Cumberland Hall Hopkinsville KY 60 Own 12/06

Nashville Rehabilitation Hospital Nashville TN 31 Own 12/06

Panamericano Cidra Puerto Rico 195 Own 12/06

The Pines Residential Treatment Center Portsmouth VA 424 Own 12/06

Palmetto Summerville Summerville SC 60 Lease 12/06

Three Rivers Residential Treatment Midlands Campus West Columbia SC 59 Own 12/06

Virgin Islands Behavioral Services St Croix U.S Virgin Islands 30 Own 12/06

Virginia Beach Psychiatric Center Virginia Beach VA 100 Own 12/06

Three Rivers Behavioral Health West Columbia SC 86 Own 01/07

Copper Hills Youth Center West Jordan UT 153 Own 05/07

MeadowWood Behavioral Health System New Castle DE 58 Own 05/07

High Point Treatment Center Cooper City FL 66 Own 05/07

Focus by the Sea St Simons GA 101 Own 05/07

Arrowhead Behavioral Health Maumee OH 42 Own 05/07

Friends Hospital Philadelphia PA 219 Own 05/07

Kingwood Pines Hospital Kingwood TX 78 Own 05/07

Windsor-Laurelwood Center Willoughby OH 160 Lease 05/07

Lighthouse Care Center of Augusta Augusta GA 106 Own 05/07

Lighthouse Care Center of Conway Conway SC 108 Own 05/07

Lighthouse Care Center of Oconee Tamassee SC 28 Own 05/07

Michiana Behavioral Health Center Plymouth IN 80 Own 05/07

Poplar Springs Hospital Petersburg VA 199 Own 05/07

River Park Hospital Huntington WV 187 Own 05/07

Lighthouse Care Center of Berkley Summerville SC Own 05/07

Austin Lakes Hospital Austin TX 48 Lease 08/07

The Hughes Center for Exceptional Children Danville VA 56 Own 09/07

The Brook Dupont Louisville KY 66 Own 03/08

River Point Behavioral Health Jacksonville FL 99 Own 03/08

The Brook KMI Louisville KY 106 Own 03/08

The Vines Ocala FL 78 Own 03/08

Wekiva Springs Jacksonville FL 44 Own 03/08

Lincoln Prairie Behavioral Health Center Springfield IL 120t Own 05/08

Rolling Hills Hospital Franklin TN 80 Own 01/09
We acquired non-operating facility Lighthouse Berkley in the acquisition of Horizon Health Currently no patients are being served at this facility

Lincoln Prairie
currently

has 120 beds constructed of which 80 beds are currently licensed We expect the additional 40 beds to be licensed in 2009

In addition our principal executive offices are located in approximately 65000 square feet of leased space in Franklin Tennessee

We do not anticipate that we will experience any difficulty in renewing our lease upon its expiration in February 2012 or obtaining
different space on comparable terms if such lease is not renewed We believe our executive offices and our hospital properties and

equipment are generally well maintained in good operating condition and adequate for our present needs

Item Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of our business In the opinion of management
we are not currently party to any proceeding that would have material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of

operations

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None

PART II

Item Market For Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol PSYS The table below sets forth for the

calendar quarters indicated the high and low sales prices per share for our common stock as reported on The NASDAQ Global Select

Market
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High Low

2007

First Quarter 42.93 35.18

Second Quarter 42.75 33.96

Third Quarter 40.00 31.81

Fourth Quarter 40.71 31.92

2008

First Quarter 34.31 27.17

Second Quarter 39.62 30.45

Third Quarter 40.90 32.89

Fourth Quarter 39.00 22.86

At the close of business on February 23 2009 there were approximately 107 holders of record of our common stock

We currently intend to retain future earnings for use in the expansion and operation of our business Our Credit Agreement as

amended prohibits us from paying dividends on our common stock Also the indenture governing our 73/4% Notes provides certain

financial conditions that must be met in order for us to pay dividends Subject to the terms of applicable contracts the payment of any

future cash dividends will be determined by our Board of Directors in light of conditions then-existing including our earnings

financial condition and capital requirements restrictions in financing agreements business opportunities and conditions and other

factors

Item Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data presented below for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 and at December 31 2008 and

2007 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K The

selected financial data for the years
ended December 31 2005 and 2004 and at December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 are derived from

our audited consolidated financial statements not included herein The audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended

December 31 2005 and 2004 and at December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 have been reclassified for discontinued operations The

selected financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and with our consolidated fmancial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Psychiatric Solutions Inc

Selected Financial Data

As of and for the Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

In thousands except per share amounts and operating data

Income Statement Data

Revenue $1765977 $1460679 $1004422 698190 455151

Costs and expenses

Salaries wages and employee benefits 971284 812505 567762 383342 246233

Other opemting expenses 467138 382381 258567 196251 137924

Provision for doubtful accounts 34606 27482 19437 13640 10581

Depreciation and amortization 40309 30756 20333 14607 9693

Interest expense 78648 74978 40303 27056 18964

Other expenses 8179 21871 6407

Total costs and expenses 1591985 1336281 906402 656767 429802

Income from continuing operations before
173 992 124398 98 020 41423 25 349

mcome taxes

Provision for income taxes 66117 47034 37011 15956 9633

Income from continuing operations 107875 77364 61009 25467 15716

Netincome 104953 76208 60632 27154 16801

Basic earnings per share from continuing 1.94 1.42 1.15 0.57 0.52

operations

Basic earnings per share 1.89 1.40 1.15 0.61 0.55

Shares used in computing basic earnings per
55408 54258 52953 44792 29140

share

Diluted earnings per share from continuing 1.92 1.39 1.13 0.55 0.45

operations

Diluted earnings per share 1.87 1.37 1.12 0.59 0.48

Shares used in computing diluted earnings per
56267 55447 54169 46296 35146

share from contmuing operations

Balance Sheet Data

Cash 51271 39970 18520 54533 33228

Working capital 168700 157831 103287 138843 44791

Property and equipment net 836223 692135 537468 376739 216565

Total assets 2504760 2178104 1579321 1174313 496522

Total debt 1314420 1172024 743307 482389 174336

Stockholders equity 889885 754742 627779 539712 244515

Operating Data

Number of facilities at period end 94 89 72 55 34

Number of licensed beds 10677 10092 8247 6354 4260
Admissions 164675 139825 106529 76752 49123

Patient days 2749643 2415042 1848675 1383440 987798

Average length of stay 17 17 17 18 20

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the selected financial data and the accompanying

consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview

Our business strategy is to acquire inpatient behavioral health care facilities and improve operating results within new and existing

inpatient facilities and our other behavioral health care operations From 2001 to 2004 we acquired 34 inpatient behavioral health care

facilities During 2005 we acquired 20 inpatient behavioral health care facilities in the acquisition of Ardent Health Services Inc and

one other inpatient facility During 2006 we acquired 19 inpatient behavioral health care facilities including nine inpatient facilities
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with the acquisition of the capital stock of Alternative Behavioral Services Inc ABS on December 2006 During 2007 we

acquired 16 inpatient behavioral health care facilities including 15 inpatient facilities in the acquisition of Horizon Health Corporation

Horizon Health During 2008 we acquired five inpatient behavioral health care facilities from UMC and opened Lincoln Prairie

Behavioral Health Center 120-bed inpatient facility in Springfield Illinois In January 2009 we opened Rolling Hills Hospital an

80-bed inpatient facility in Franklin Tennessee

We strive to improve the operating results of new and existing inpatient behavioral health care operations by providing the highest

quality service expanding referral networks and marketing initiatives and meeting increased demand for behavioral health care

services by expanding our services and developing new services We also attempt to improve operating results by maintaining

appropriate staffing ratios controlling contract labor costs and reducing supply costs through group purchasing Our same-facility

revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities increased 8.0% for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year
ended

December 31 2007 Same-facility growth in 2008 was primarily the result of increases in patient days and revenue per patient day of

2.6% and 5.2% respectively Same-facility growth refers to the comparison of each inpatient facility owned during 2007 with the

comparable period in 2008 adjusted for closures and combinations for comparability purposes

Income from continuing operations before income taxes increased to $174.0 million or 9.9% of revenue in 2008 as compared to

$124.4 million or 8.5% of revenue in 2007 Operating results for 2007 include an $8.2 million loss on the refinancing of long-term

debt Excluding this refinancing loss income from continuing operations for 2007 was $132.6 million or 9.1% of revenue The $41.4

million increase in income from continuing operations before income taxes and the refinancing loss in 2008 compared to 2007 was

primarily the result of the following

operating results from the May 31 2007 acquisition of Horizon Health and the March 2008 acquisition of five behavioral

health care facilities from UMC

same-facility growth at our behavioral health care facilities in patient days of 2.6% and revenue per patient day of 5.2% and

reduction in interest expense as percentage of revenue to 4.4% in 2008 compared to 5.1% in 2007 due primarily to decrease

in our overall effective interest rate

Our operating results for 2008 as compared to 2007 were negatively impacted by the following items

one of our behavioral health care hospitals in Chicago experienced decline in operating results in 2008 as compared to 2007

primarily due to hold on admissions placed on this facility by the Illinois Department of Children and Family Services and

costs of professional services related to the United States Department of Justice investigation

our self-insured reserves for general and professional liability risks increased approximately $4.9 million at December 31 2008

compared to December 31 2007 primarily as result of the revised assessment of certain claims at amounts higher than

originally anticipated and the actuarial implications of such revisions and

an increase in share-based compensation expense
of $3.8 million

Sources of Revenue

Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is generated by our inpatient facilities for services provided to patients on an inpatient and outpatient basis

within the inpatient behavioral health care facility setting Patient service revenue is recorded at our established billing rates less

contractual adjustments Contractual adjustments are recorded to state our patient service revenue at the amount we expect to collect

for the services provided based on amounts reimbursable by Medicare or Medicaid under provisions of cost or prospective

reimbursement formulas or amounts due from other third-party payors at contractually determined rates Patient service revenue

comprised approximately 90.0% of our total revenue in 2008

Other Revenue

Other behavioral health care services accounted for 10.0% of our revenue for the year ended December 31 2008 This portion of

our business primarily consists of our contract management and EAP businesses Our contract management business involves the

development organization and management of behavioral health care programs within medical/surgical hospitals Our EAP business

contracts with employers to assist employees and their dependents with resolution of behavioral conditions or other personal concerns

Services provided are recorded as revenue at contractually determined rates in the period the services are rendered provided that

collectability of such amounts is reasonably assured
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Results of Operations

The following table illustrates our consolidated results of operations from continuing operations for the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006 dollars in thousands

Results of Operations Consolidated Psychiatric Solutions

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Amount Amount Amount

Revenue 1765977 100.0% $1460679 100.0% 1004422 100.0%

Salaries sages and employee benefits including

share-based compensation of $19913 $16104

and $12535 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively 971284 55.0% 812505 55.6% 567762 56.6%

Professional fees 179307 10.1% 144895 9.9% 94907 9.4%

Supplies 95088 5.4% 80170 5.5% 57207 5.7%

Provision for doubtful accounts 34606 2.0% 27482 1.9% 19437 1.9%

Otheroperatingexpenses 192743 10.9% 157316 10.8% 106453 10.6%

Depreciation and amortization 40309 2.3% 30756 2.1% 20333 2.0%

Interest expense net 78648 4.4% 74978 5.1% 40303 4.0%

Other expenses

Loss on refinancing long-teim debt 0.0% 8179 0.6% 0.0%

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes 173992 9.9% 124398 8.5% 98020 9.8%

Provisionforincometaxes 66117 3.8% 47034 3.2% 37011 3.7%

Income from continuing operations 107875 6.1% 77364 5.3% 61009 6.1%

Year Ended December 31 2008 Compared To Year Ended December 31 2007

The following table compares key total facility statistics and same-facility statistics for 2008 and 2007 for owned and leased

inpatient facilities

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 Change

Total facility results

Revenue in thousands 1589903 1336554 19.0%

Number of facilities at period end 94 89 5.6%

Admissions 164675 139825 17.8%

Patient days 2749643 2415042 13.9%

Average length of stay 16.7 17.3 -3.5%

Revenue per patient day 578 553 4.5%

Same-facility results

Revenue in thousands 1437569 1331141 8.0%

Number of facilities at period end 89 89 0.0%

Admissions 145567 139175 4.6%

Patient days 2466223 2404421 2.6%

Average length of stay 16.9 17.3 -2.3%

Revenue per patient day 583 554 5.2%

Revenue Revenue from continuing operations increased $305.3 million or 20.9% to $1.8 billion for the year ended December 31
2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 Revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities increased $253.4 million or

19.0% to $1.6 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 The increase in revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities relates primarily

to the acquisitions of Horizon Health in 2007 and five inpatient facilities from UMC in 2008 The remainder of the increase in revenue

from owned and leased inpatient facilities is primarily attributable to same-facility growth in patient days of 2.6% and revenue per

patient day of 5.2% Other revenue was $176.1 million in 2008 compared to $124.1 million in 2007 an increase of $52.0 million

resulting primarily from other operations acquired in the Horizon Health acquisition including management contracts and EAP
services

Salaries wages and employee benefits Salaries wages and employee benefits SWB expense was $971.3 million in 2008

compared to $812.5 million in 2007 an increase of $158.8 million or 19.5% SWB
expense includes $19.9 million and $16.1 million
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of shared-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Based on our stock option and

restricted stock grants outstanding at December 31 2008 we estimate remaining unrecognized share-based compensation expense to

be approximately $43.6 million with weighted-average remaining amortization period of 2.6 years Excluding share-based

compensation expense SWB expense was $951.4 million or 53.9% of total revenue in 2008 compared to $796.4 million or 54.5% of

total revenue in 2007 SWB expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $858.2 million in 2008 or 54.0% of revenue

Same-facility SWB expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $773.7 million in 2008 or 53.8% of revenue compared to

$723.0 million in 2007 or 54.3% of revenue SWB expense
for other operations was $66.7 million in 2008 compared to $44.2 million

in 2007 The increase in SWB expense from other operations is primarily the result of the management contract and EAP businesses

acquired in the Horizon Health acquisition SWB expense for our corporate office was $46.4 million including $19.9 million in share-

based compensation for 2008 compared to $41.5 million including $16.1 million in shared-based compensation for 2007

Professional fees Professional fees were $179.3 million in 2008 or 10.1% of total revenue compared to $144.9 million in 2007 or

9.9% of total revenue Professional fees for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $146.4 million in 2008 or 9.2% of revenue

Same-facility professional fees for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $131.5 million in 2008 or 9.1% of revenue compared to

$123.9 million in 2007 or 9.3% of revenue Professional fees for other operations and our corporate office increased to $32.9 million

in 2008 compared to $20.1 million in 2007 primarily due to the other operations acquired in the Horizon Health acquisition

Supplies Supplies expense was $95.1 million in 2008 or 5.4% of total revenue compared to $80.2 million in 2007 or 5.5% of

total revenue Supplies expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $93.3 million in 2008 or 5.9% of revenue Same-facility

supplies expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $82.7 million in 2008 or 5.8% of revenue compared to $78.4 million in

2007 or 5.9% of revenue Supplies expense for other operations as well as our corporate office consisted primarily of office supplies

and is negligible to our supplies expense overall

Provision for doubtful accounts The provision for doubtful accounts was $34.6 million in 2008 or 2.0% of total revenue

compared to $27.5 million in 2007 or 1.9% of total revenue The provision for doubtful accounts at owned and leased inpatient

facilities comprised substantially all of our provision for doubtful accounts

Other operating expenses Other operating expenses consist primarily of rent utilities insurance travel and repairs and

maintenance expenses Other operating expenses were $192.7 million in 2008 or 10.9% of total revenue compared to $157.3 million

in 2007 or 10.8% of total revenue Other operating expenses for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $135.3 million in 2008 or

8.5% of revenue Same-facility other operating expenses for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $121.3 million in 2008 or

8.4% of revenue compared to $107.1 million in 2007 or 8.0% of revenue The increase in same-facility other operating expenses for

owned and leased inpatient facilities was primarily the result of an increase in our self-insured reserves for professional and general

liability risks which is primarily due to the revised assessment of certain claims at amounts higher than originally anticipated and the

actuarial implications of such revisions Other operating expenses for other operations increased to $48.8 million in 2008 compared to

$41.8 million in 2007 primarily due to the management contract and EAP businesses acquired in Horizon Health acquisition

Depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $40.3 million in 2008 compared to

$30.8 million in 2007 primarily as result of the acquisitions of inpatient facilities and capital expenditures during 2007 and 2008

Interest expense net Interest expense net of interest income increased to $78.6 million in 2008 compared to $75.0 million in 2007

primarily as result of an increase in our long-term debt offset by reduction in our overall effective interest rate We borrowed

$443.2 million in May 2007 to finance the Horizon Health acquisition and borrowed $149.3 million in 2008 to finance the acquisition

of five inpatient behavioral health care facilities from UMC acquisitions of EAP businesses capital expenditures and other general

corporate purposes In February 2009 as part of an amendment to our revolving credit facility the interest rate margins on borrowings

based on LIBOR were increased to range of 5.0% to 5.75% depending upon certain leverage ratio This interest rate margin was

1.5% at December 31 2008 For further information on the February 2009 amendment to our revolving credit facility see Liquidity

and Capital Resources within this Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Loss on refinancing of long-term debt During 2007 we incurred loss on refinancing long-term debt of $8.2 million that consisted

primarily of the amount above par value we paid to repurchase our 0/% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 0/ Notes the

write-off of capitalized financing costs associated with our 0/% Notes and the amount paid to exit the related interest rate swap

agreements

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes The loss from discontinued operations net of income tax effect was $2.9 million

and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively During the year ended December 31 2008 we

elected to dispose of leased inpatient facility and recorded $1.9 million write-down to fair value of the assets held-for-sale for this

facility Additionally two contracts with Puerto Rican juvenile justice agency to manage inpatient facilities were terminated in 2008

During the year ended December 31 2007 we elected to dispose of one inpatient facility Accordingly these operations are included

in discontinued operations

23



Year Ended December 31 2007 Compared To Year Ended December 31 2006

The following table compares key total facility statistics and same-facility statistics for 2007 and 2006 for owned and leased

inpatient facilities

Year Ended December 31

2007 2006 Change

Total facility results

Revenue in thousands 1336554 958318 39.5%

Number of facilities at period end 89 72 23.6%

Admissions 139825 106529 31.3%

Patient days 2415042 1848675 30.6%

Average length of stay 17.3 17.4 -0.6%

Revenue perpatient day 553 518 6.8%

Same-facility results

Revenue in thousands 1000874 937843 6.7%

Number of facilities at period end 72 72 0.0%

Admissions 106828 104526 2.2%

Patient days 1826108 1803179 1.3%

Average length of stay 17.1 17.3 -1.2%

Revenue perpalient day 548 520 5.4%

Revenue Revenue from continuing operations increased $456.3 million or 45.4% to $1.5 billion in 2007 compared to 2006

Revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities increased $378.2 million or 39.5% to $1.3 billion in 2007 compared to 2006 The

increase in revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities relates primarily to acquisitions The remainder of the increase in

revenue from owned and leased inpatient facilities is primarily attributable to same-facility growth in patient days of 1.3% and

revenue per patient day of 5.4% Other revenue increased to $124.1 million in 2007 compared to $46.1 million in 2006 primarily as

result of other operations acquired in the Horizon Health and ABS acquisitions

Salaries wages and employee benefits SWB expense was $812.5 million in 2007 compared to $567.8 million in 2006 an increase

of $244.7 million or 43.1% SWB expense includes $16.1 million and $12.5 million of share-based compensation expense for the

years ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively Excluding share-based compensation expense SWB expense was $796.4

million or 54.5% of total revenue in 2007 compared to $555.2 million or 55.3% of total revenue in 2006 SWB expense for owned

and leased inpatient facilities was $726.8 million in 2007 or 54.4% of revenue Same-facility SWB expense for owned and leased

inpatient facilities was $537.5 million in 2007 or 53.7% of revenue compared to $512.4 million in 2006 or 54.3% of revenue SWB

expense for other operations increased to $44.2 million in 2007 compared to $15.8 million in 2006 primarily as result of other

operations acquired in the Horizon Health and ABS acquisitions SWB expense for our corporate office was $41.5 million in 2007

including share-based compensation expense of $16.1 million compared to $31.6 million in 2006 including share-based

compensation of $12.5 million in 2006 This increase in SWB expense for our corporate office was primarily the result of hiring

additional staff
necessary to manage the inpatient facilities acquired during 2006 and 2007

Professional fees Professional fees were $144.9 million in 2007 or 9.9% of total revenue compared to $94.9 million in 2006 or

9.4% of total revenue Professional fees for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $124.8 million in 2007 or 9.3% of revenue

Same-facility professional fees for owned and leased inpatient facilities were $89.3 million in 2007 or 8.9% of revenue compared to

$86.1 million in 2006 or 9.1% of revenue Professional fees for other operations increased to $14.7 million in 2007 compared to

$3.1 million in 2006 primarily as result of the acquisitions of Alternative Behavioral Services Inc and Horizon Health Professional

fees for our corporate office were $5.3 million in 2007 compared to $4.0 million in 2006

Supplies Supplies expense was $80.2 million in 2007 or 5.5% of total revenue compared to $57.2 million in 2006 or 5.7% of

total revenue Supplies expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $78.9 million in 2007 or 5.9% of revenue Same-facility

supplies expense for owned and leased inpatient facilities was $57.8 million in 2007 or 5.8% of revenue compared to $55.4 million in

2006 or 5.9% of revenue

Provision for doubtful accounts The provision for doubtful accounts was $27.5 million in 2007 or 1.9% of total revenue

compared to $19.4 million in 2006 or 1.9% of total revenue The provision for doubtful accounts at owned and leased inpatient

facilities comprises the majority of our provision for doubtful accounts as whole

Other operating expenses Other operating expenses consist primarily of rent utilities insurance travel and repairs and

maintenance expenses Other operating expenses were approximately $157.3 million in 2007 or 10.8% of total revenue compared to

$106.5 million in 2006 or 10.6% of total revenue Other operating expenses for owned and leased inpatient facilities were
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$108.0 million in 2007 or 8.1% of revenue Same-facility other operating expenses for owned and leased inpatient facilities were

$76.5 million in 2007 or 7.6% of revenue compared to $81.1 million in 2006 or 8.6% of revenue The decrease in same-facility other

operating expenses for owned and leased inpatient facilities was primarily the result of reductions in risk management costs as

percent of revenue Other operating expenses for other operations increased to $41.8 million in 2007 compared to $18.5 million in

2006 primarily as result businesses acquired in the acquisitions of ABS and Horizon Health

Depreciation and amortization Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $30.8 million in 2007 compared to

$20.3 million in 2006 primarily as result of the acquisitions of ABS and Horizon Health

Interest expense net Interest expense net of interest income increased $34.7 million to $75.0 million in 2007 compared to 2006

On December 31 2007 we had $1.2 billion in long-term debt compared to $743.3 million at December 31 2006 The increase in

interest expense is primarily the result of debt incurred to finance acquisitions We borrowed $210.0 million in December 2006 to

finance the acquisition of ABS and we incurred net borrowings of $443.2 million in May 2007 to finance the acquisition of Horizon

Health

Loss on refinancing of long-term debt During 2007 we incurred loss on refinancing long-term debt of $8.2 million that consisted

primarily of the amount above par value we paid to repurchase our 0/8% Notes the write-off of capitalized financing costs

associated with our 0/8% Notes and the amount paid to exit the related interest rate swap agreements

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes The loss from discontinued operations net of income tax effect was $1.2 million

and $0.4 million for the years
ended December 31 2007 and 2006 respectively During 2008 we elected to dispose of leased

inpatient facility and two contracts with Puerto Rican juvenile justice agency to manage inpatient facilities were terminated During

2007 we elected to dispose of one inpatient facility During 2006 we terminated three of our contracts to manage state-owned

inpatient facilities and sold therapeutic boarding school Accordingly these operations are included in discontinued operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working capital at December 31 2008 was $168.7 million including cash and cash equivalents of $51.3 million compared to

working capital of $157.8 million including cash and cash equivalents of $40.0 million at December 31 2007 This change in

working capital is primarily attributable to increases in accounts receivable of $17.6 million cost report receivables of $10.9 million

income tax receivable/payable of $20.6 million and deferred tax assets of $7.1 million offset by increases in current maturities under

our revolving credit facility of $29.3 million and other accrued liabilities of $19.0 million to purchase hospital building previously

leased The increase in accounts receivable is primarily the result of increases in same-facility revenue and receivables generated from

businesses acquired in 2008 Our consolidated days sales outstanding were 51 and 53 at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

In February 2009 our revolving credit facility was amended to

extend the maturity of $200 million capacity to December 31 2011 with the remaining $100 million capacity to mature on

December 21 2009 as originally scheduled

revise the interest rate on borrowings to LIBOR plus spread ranging from 5.0% to 5.75% or prime plus spread ranging from

4.0% to 4.75% depending upon leverage ratio and

revise the commitment fee on the unused portion of our revolving credit facility to fluctuate between 0.75% and 1.0% based

upon leverage ratio

As result of the extension of our revolving credit facility $200 million of the $229.3 million balance outstanding under the

revolving credit facility at December 31 2008 has been classified as non-current liability with the remainder classified in current

portion of long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008 On February 25 2009 we used excess cash to

reduce the outstanding debt balance on the revolving credit facility to $195.0 million and now have approximately $97.4 million

available under our revolving credit facility

Cash provided by continuing operating activities was $142.6 million in 2008 compared to $124.4 million in 2007 The increase in

cash flows from continuing operating activities was primarily attributable to improved same-facility operating margins the operating

results of facilities acquired from Horizon Health and UMC and changes in working capital excluding accrued interest offset by

increased payments for income tax and interest

Billings for patient accounts receivable are generally submitted to the payor within three days of the patients discharge or

completion of services Interim billings may be utilized for patients with extended lengths of stay We verif within reasonable

period of time that claims submitted to third-party payors have been received and are being processed by such payors Follow-up

regarding the status of each claim is made on periodic basis until payment on the claim is received Billing notices for self-pay

accounts receivable are distributed on periodic basis Self-pay accounts receivable are turned over to collection agencies once

internal collection efforts have been exhausted Accounts receivable under our inpatient management contracts are billed at least

monthly Follow-up collection efforts are made on periodic basis until payment is received Our allowance for doubtful accounts for
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patient receivables primarily consists of patient accounts that are greater than 180 days past the patients discharge date Our

allowance for doubtful accounts for receivables due under our inpatient management contracts primarily consists of amounts that are

specifically identified as potential collection issues Accounts receivable are written off when collection within reasonable period of

time is deemed unlikely

Cash used by continuing investing activities was $291.5 million in 2008 compared to $538.5 million in 2007 Cash used in

investing activities in 2008 was primarily the result of $166.2 million paid for acquisitions of behavioral health care facilities and

$124.0 million paid for purchases of fixed assets Acquisitions in 2008 consisted primarily of five inpatient behavioral health care

facilities acquired from UMC and EAP acquisitions Cash used for routine and expansion capital expenditures was approximately

$42.6 million and $80.7 million respectively for the year ended December 31 2008 We expect expansion expenditures to continue

during 2009 as result of planned capital expansion projects and the construction of new facilities which are expected to add

approximately 500 new beds to our inpatient facilities We define expansion capital expenditures as those that increase the capacity of

our facilities or otherwise enhance revenue Routine or maintenance capital expenditures were 2.4% of our net revenue for 2008

Capital expenditures for 2008 also include $0.7 million paid in connection with the purchase of previously leased hospital

Remaining payments of $19.0 million related to this purchase are due in 2009 Cash used in investing activities in 2007 was primarily

the result of $462.8 million paid for acquisitions of behavioral health care facilities including Horizon Health and $73.2 million paid

for purchases of fixed assets

Cash provided by financing activities was $155.7 million in 2008 compared to $432.5 million in 2007 Cash provided by financing

activities for 2008 consisted primarily of $149.3 million in net borrowings under our revolving credit facility which were used to

finance the acquisition of five inpatient behavioral health care facilities from UMC acquisitions of EAP businesses capital

expenditures and other general corporate purposes Cash provided by financing activities for 2008 also included $9.5 million in

proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $3.1 million in income tax benefits in excess of share-based compensation expense on

stock options exercised in 2008 Cash provided by financing activities for 2007 consisted primarily of additional borrowings of $481.9

million which were used primarily to finance the acquisition of Horizon Health and to retire approximately $38.6 million of other

long-term debt Additionally during 2007 we received $17.3 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and $9.4 million

in income tax benefits in excess of share-based compensation expense on stock options exercised in 2007

We have universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3 under which we may sell an indeterminate amount of our common
stock common stock warrants preferred stock and debt securities We may from time to time offer these securities in one or more

series in amounts at prices and on terms satisfactory to us

During the fourth quarter of 2007 we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Merrill Lynch Capital Services Inc to

manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates With this interest rate swap agreement we exchange the interest payments
associated with notional amount of $225 million of LIBOR indexed variable rate debt related to our senior secured term loan facility

for fixed interest rate This interest rate swap agreement matures on November 30 2009 The fair value of our interest rate swap

agreement at December 31 2008 reflected liability of $6.2 million which represents the estimated amount we would have paid if the

agreement was canceled

We are actively seeking acquisitions that fit our corporate growth strategy and may acquire additional inpatient psychiatric

facilities and other operations and will incur continued expenditures on expansion projects Management continually assesses our

capital needs and should the need arise we will seek additional financing including debt or equity to fund potential acquisitions

facility expansions payment of indebtedness or for other corporate purposes In negotiating such financing there can be no assurance

that we will be able to raise additional capital on terms satisfactory to us Failure to obtain additional financing on reasonable terms

could have negative effect on our plans to acquire additional inpatient psychiatric facilities

Obligations and Commitments

Payments Due by Period in thousands

Less than More than

Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

Long-term debt

Senior Credit Facility

Revolving tine of credit facility expiring on December 21 2009

extended to December 31 2011 for $200000 in February 2009
and bearing interest of 3.4% at December 31 2008 229333 29333 200000

Senior secured term loan facility expiring on July
2012

and bearing interest of 3.1% at December 31 2008 568625 3750 7500 557375
3/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due July 15 2015 475841 475841

Mortgage loans on facilities maturing in 2036 2037 and 2038

bearing fixed interest rates of 5.7% to 7.6% 33273 423 928 1051 30871

1307072 33506 208428 558426 506712

Lease and other
obligations 105558 40113 19796 11360 34289

Total contractual obligations 1412630 73619 228224 569786 541001
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Excludes capital lease obligations and other obligations of $7.3 million which are included in lease and other obligations

The fair value of our $470.0 million in principal amount of 73/4% Notes was approximately $343.7 million and $467.1 million as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The fair values of our revolving credit facility and senior secured term loan facility were

approximately $195.5 million and $446.4 million respectively as of December 31 2008 The carrying value of our revolving credit

facility and senior secured term loan facility approximated fair value at December 31 2007 The carrying value of our other long-term

debt including current maturities of $40.6 million and $42.2 million at December 31 2008 and December 31 2007 respectively

approximated fair value We had $568.6 million and $229.3 million respectively of variable rate debt outstanding under our

revolving credit facility and senior secured term loan facility as of December 31 2008 As result of our interest rate swap agreement

to exchange interest rate payments associated with notional amount of $225 million of LIBOR-indexed variable rate debt for fixed

rate the variable rate debt outstanding under our senior secured term loan facility was effectively $343.6 million as of December 31

2008 At our December 31 2008 borrowing level hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would decrease our annual net income

and cash flows by approximately $1.1 million

Impact of Inflation and Economic Trends

Although inflation has not had material impact on our results of operations the health care industry is very labor intensive and

salaries and benefits are subject to inflationary pressures as are supply costs which tend to escalate as vendors pass on the rising costs

through price increases Some of the freestanding owned leased and managed inpatient behavioral health care facilities we operate are

experiencing the effects of the tight labor market including shortage of nurses which has caused and may continue to cause an

increase in our SWB expense in excess of the inflation rate Although we cannot predict our ability to cover future cost increases

management believes that through adherence to cost containment policies labor management and reasonable price increases the

effects of inflation on future operating margins should be manageable Our ability to pass on increased costs associated with providing

health care to Medicare and Medicaid patients is limited due to various federal state and local laws which have been enacted that in

certain cases limit our ability to increase prices In addition as result of increasing regulatory and competitive pressures and

continuing industry wide shift of patients into managed care plans our ability to maintain margins through price increases to non-

Medicare patients is limited

The behavioral health care industry is typically not directly impacted by periods of recession erosions of consumer confidence or

other general economic trends as most health care services are not considered component of discretionary spending However our

inpatient facilities may be indirectly negatively impacted to the extent such economic conditions result in decreased reimbursements

by federal or state governments or managed care payors Discussion concerning the current economic downturn is included in Part

Item under the caption Risk Factors We are not aware of any economic trends that would prevent us from being able to remain

in compliance with all of our debt covenants and to meet all required obligations and commitments in the near future

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States In preparing our financial statements we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses
included in the financial statements Estimates are based on historical experience

and other information currently available the results of which form the basis of such estimates While we believe our estimation

processes are reasonable actual results could differ from our estimates The following represent the estimates considered most critical

to our operating performance and involve the most subjective and complex assumptions and assessments

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our ability to collect outstanding patient receivables from third-party payors is critical to our operating performance and cash

flows

The primary collection risk with regard to patient receivables lies with uninsured patient accounts or patient accounts for which

primary insurance has paid but the portion owed by the patient remains outstanding We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts

primarily based upon the age of the accounts since the patient discharge date We continually monitor our accounts receivable

balances and utilize cash collection data to support our estimates of the provision for doubtful accounts Significant changes in payor

mix or business office operations could have significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows

The primary collection risk with regard to receivables due under our inpatient management contracts is attributable to contractual

disputes We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts for these receivables based primarily upon the specific identification of

potential collection issues As with our patient receivables we continually monitor our accounts receivable balances and utilize cash

collection data to support our estimates of the provision for doubtful accounts
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ilowances for Contractual Discounts

The Medicare and Medicaid regulations are complex and various managed care contracts may include multiple reimbursement

mechanisms for different types of services provided in our inpatient facilities and cost settlement provisions requiring complex
calculations and assumptions subject to interpretation We estimate the allowance for contractual discounts on payor-specific basis

by comparing our established billing rates with the amount we determine to be reimbursable given our interpretation of the applicable

regulations or contract terms Most payments are determined based on negotiated per-diem rates While the services authorized and

provided and related reimbursement are often subject to interpretation that could result in payments that differ from our estimates

these differences are deemed immaterial Additionally updated regulations and contract renegotiations occur frequently necessitating

continual review and assessment of the estimation
process by our management We periodically compare the contractual rates on our

patient accounting systems with the Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rates or the third-party payor contract for accuracy We
also monitor the adequacy of our contractual adjustments using financial measures such as comparing cash receipts to net patient

revenue adjusted for bad debt expense

As of December 31 2008 our patient accounts receivable balance for third-party payors was $231.6 million theoretical 1%
change in the amounts due from third-party payors at December 31 2008 could have an after tax effect of approximately $1.4 million

on our financial position and results of operations

The following table presents the percentage by payor of our net revenue for the
years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 and

related accounts receivable at year end in thousands

For the Year Ended December 31

2008 2007

Net Accounts Net Accounts

Revenue Receivable Revenue Receivable

Medicaid 29% 26% 32% 28%
Commercial/HMO/Private Pay 35% 41% 34% 36%
Medicare 13% 9% 12% 11%
State agency 15% 17% 16% 17%
Other 8% 7% 6% 8%

100% 100% 100% 100%

The following table presents the percentage by aging category of our accounts receivable at December 31 2008 and 2007 in

thousands

At December 31

2008 2007

0-3odays 64% 64%

31-6Odays 13% 14%

61 -90 days 8% 8%

91 120 days 5% 5%

121 150 days 4% 4%

15l-l8Odays 4% 3%

l8Odays 2% 2%

Total 100% 100%

Our consolidated days sales outstanding were 51 and 53 for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Our

consolidated collections as percentage of net revenue less bad debt
expense was 100.0% and 101.5% for the years ended December

31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Professional and General Liability

We are subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits due to the nature of the services we provide Our operations have

professional and general liability insurance in umbrella form for claims in excess of $3.0 million with an insured excess limit of $50.0

million Effective December 31 2008 we increased this insured excess limit to $75.0 million The self-insured reserves for

professional and general liability risks are estimated based on historical claims demographic factors industry trends severity factors

and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third-party actuary This self-insurance reserve is discounted to its

present value using 5% discount rate This estimated accrual for professional and general liabilities could be significantly affected
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should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and expectations We have utilized our captive insurance

company to manage the self-insured retention While claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and general liability

accruals the complexity of the claims and wide range of potential outcomes often limits timely adjustments to the assumptions used in

these estimates

Income Taxes

As part of our process for preparing our consolidated financial statements our management is required to compute income taxes in

each of the jurisdictions in which we operate This
process

involves estimating the current tax benefit or expense
of future deductible

and taxable temporary differences The tax effects of future deductible and taxable temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax

assets and liabilities which are components of our balance sheet Management then assesses our ability to realize the deferred tax

assets based on reversals of deferred tax liabilities and if necessary estimates of future taxable income valuation allowance for

deferred tax assets is established when we believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized

Management must also assess the impact of our acquisitions on the realization of deferred tax assets subject to valuation allowance

to determine if all or portion of the valuation allowance will be offset by reversing taxable differences or future taxable income of

the acquired entity To the extent the valuation allowance can be reversed due to the estimated future taxable income of an acquired

entity then our valuation allowance is reduced accordingly as an adjustment to purchase price

We adopted FASB Interpretation No 48 FIN 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes An Interpretation of FASB

Statement No 109 on January 2007 Applying the provisions of FIN 48 requires significant judgments regarding the recognition

and measurement of each tax position Changes in these judgments may materially affect the estimate of our effective tax rate and our

operating results

Share-Based Compensation

We adopted SFAS No 23R under the modified-prospective transition method on January 2006 which requires us to measure

and recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value

of such awards We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the grant-date fair value of our stock options The

Black-Scholes model includes certain variables and assumptions that require judgment such as the expected volatility of our stock

price and the expected term of our stock options Additionally SFAS 23R requires us to use judgment in the estimation of forfeitures

over the vesting period of share-based awards

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our interest expense is sensitive to changes in the general level of interest rates With respect to our interest-bearing liabilities and

including our interest rate swap approximately $734.1 million of our long-term debt outstanding at December 31 2008 was subject to

weighted-average fixed interest rate of 7.0% Our variable rate debt is comprised of our senior secured term loan facility which had

$343.6 million outstanding at December 31 2008 excluding $225 million associated with our interest rate swap and on which

interest is generally payable at LIBOR plus 1.75 and our $300.0 million revolving credit facility which had $229.3 million

balance outstanding at December 31 2008 and on which interest is generally payable at LIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.25% depending on

certain leverage ratio Additionally we have entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Merrill Lynch Capital Services Inc to

exchange the interest payments associated with notional amount of $225 million of LIBOR indexed variable rate debt for fixed

rate hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would decrease our net income and cash flows by approximately $1.1 million on an

annual basis based upon our borrowing level at December 31 2008 In the event we draw on our revolving credit facility and interest

rates change significantly we expect management would take actions intended to further mitigate our exposure to such change

Information on quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk and the February 2009 amendment of our revolving credit

facility is included in Part II Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Information with respect to this Item is contained in our consolidated financial statements indicated in the Index on Page F-i of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of management including our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
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the end of the period covered by this report pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 3a- 15 Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Accounting Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that

information required to be disclosed by us including our consolidated subsidiaries in reports that we file or submit under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended is recorded processed summarized and reported on timely basis

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 we have included report of managements assessment of the

design and operating effectiveness of our internal controls as part of this report Our independent registered public accounting firm

also reported on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting Managements report and the independent registered

public accounting firms report are included in our 2008 consolidated financial statements beginning with the index on page F-l of

this report under the captions entitled Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Report of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31 2008 that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors and Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors

The information relating to our directors set forth in the Companys Proxy Statement relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders under the caption Proposal Election of Directors and Corporate Governance Committees of the Board of

Directors Audit Committee is incorporated herein by reference

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The executive officers of the Company are

Name Officer Since Positions

Joey Jacobs 55 April 1997 President and Chief Executive Officer

Terrance Bridges 56 July 2007 Co-Chief Operating Officer

Ronald Fincher 55 October 2008W Co-Chief Operating Officer

Jack Polson 42 August 2002 Executive Vice President Chief Accounting Officer

Brent Turner 43 February 2003 Executive Vice President Finance and Administration

Christopher Howard 42 September 2005 Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

Joey Jacobs President and Chief Executive Officer Mr Jacobs serves as President and Chief Executive Officer and was one of

our co-founders in April 1997 Prior to our founding Mr Jacobs served for 21 years in various capacities with HCA Inc HCA
also formerly known as Hospital Corporation of America Columbia and ColumbiaIHCA most recently as President of the Tennessee

Division Mr Jacobs background at HCA also includes serving as President of HCAs Central Group Vice President of the Western

Group Assistant Vice President of the Central Group and Assistant Vice President of the Salt Lake City Division

Terrance Bridges Co-Chief Operating Officer Mr Bridges has served as Co-Chief Operating Officer since October 13 2008

He previously served as Chief Operating Officer since July 2007 Prior to that Mr Bridges served as President of PSIs Western

Division after serving as CEO of Fremont Hospital From 1996-2004 Mr Bridges worked at Cedars-Sinai Medical Center where he

held administrative director roles From 1986-1996 Mr Bridges served as an officer and directed regional or divisional operations for

Community Psychiatric Centers and Ramsay Healthcare Inc

Ronald Fincher Co-Chief Operating Officer Mr Pincher has served as Co-Chief Operating Officer since October 13 2008 He
had served the company as Division President since April 2003 As Division President Mr Pincher was responsible for managing
the operations of several of our inpatient behavioral health care facilities Prior to joining us Mr Fincher served as Regional Vice

President of Universal Health Services Inc from 2000 until 2003

Jack Polson Executive Vice President ChiefAccounting Officer Mr Polson has served as an Executive Vice President since

September 2006 and as Chief Accounting Officer since August 2002 Prior to being appointed Chief Accounting Officer Mr Polson
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had served as Controller since June 1997 From June 1995 until joining us Mr Polson served as Controller for Columbia Healthcare

Network risk-bearing physician health organization From May 1992 until June 1995 Mr Polson served as an Internal Audit

Supervisor for HCA

Brent Turner Executive Vice President Finance and Administration Mr Turner has served as the Executive Vice President

Finance and Administration since August 2005 and previously had served as the Vice President Treasurer and Investor Relations

since February 2003 From April 2002 until joining us Mr Turner served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of

privately-held owner and operator of schools for children with learning disabilities From November 2001 until March 2002

Mr Turner served as Senior Vice President of Business Development for The Brown Schools Inc provider of educational and

therapeutic services for at-risk youth From 1996 until January 2001 Mr Turner was employed by Corrections Corporation of

America private prison operator serving as Treasurer from 1998 to 2001

Christopher Howard Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary Mr Howard has served as the Executive Vice

President General Counsel and Secretary since September 2005 Prior to joining us Mr Howard was memberof Waller Lansden

Dortch Davis LLP law firm based in Nashville Tennessee

Code of Ethics

We adopted Code of Ethics that applies to all of our directors officers and employees The Code of Ethics is available on our

website at www.psysolutions.com We will disclose any amendment to other than technical administrative or non-substantive

amendments or waiver of our Code of Ethics granted to director or executive officer by filing Current Report on Form 8-K

disclosing the amendment or waiver within four business days Upon the written request of any person we will furnish without

charge copy of our Code of Ethics Requests should be directed to Psychiatric Solutions Inc 6640 Carothers Parkway Suite 500

Franklin Tennessee 37067 Attention Christopher Howard Esq Executive Vice President General Counsel and Secretary

Section 16a Compliance

The information relating to Section 16a beneficial ownership reporting compliance set forth in our Proxy Statement relating to the

2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance is incorporated

herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information set forth in our Proxy Statement relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption

Compensation Discussion and Analysis and Executive Compensation is incorporated herein by reference The Compensation

Committee Report also included in the Proxy Statement is expressly not incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information set forth in our Proxy Statement relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption Security

Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Executive Compensation Equity Compensation Plan Information

is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information set forth in our Proxy Statement relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption

Corporate Governance Standards of Independence for the Board of Directors and Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth in our Proxy Statement relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption Proposal

Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm is incorporated herein by reference

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Consolidated Financial Statements The consolidated financial statements of Psychiatric Solutions are included as follows

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
F-3
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-4

Consolidated Balance Sheets F-5

Consolidated Statements of Income F-6

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity F-7

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-8

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F- 10

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or because the required information is included in the

consolidated financial statements or notes in this report

Exhibits The exhibits which are filed with this report or which are incorporated herein by reference are set forth in the

Exhibit Index on pages 32 through 34

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among PMR Corporation PMR Acquisition Corporation and Psychiatric

Solutions Inc dated May 2002 as amended by Amendment No dated as of June 10 2002 and Amendment

No dated as of July 2002 included as Annex to Amendment No ito the Companys Registration Statement on

Form S-4 filed on July 11 2002 Reg No 333-90372

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated April 2003 by and among Psychiatric Solutions Inc PSI Acquisition Sub
Inc and Ramsay Youth Services Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed on April 10 2003

2.3 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 30 2005 by and among Ardent Health Services LLC
Ardent Health Services Inc and Psychiatric Solutions Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2005

2.4 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 27 2006 by and between FHC Health

Systems Inc and Psychiatric Solutions Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Companys Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on December 2006

2.5 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 20 2006 by and among Psychiatric Solutions Inc Panther

Acquisition Sub Inc and Horizon Health Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.5 to the Companys
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of PMR Corporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on

March 1998 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended April 30 1998

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of PMR Corporation filed with the

Delaware Secretary of State on August 2002 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Companys Quarterly

Report on Form lO-Q for the quarter ended July 31 2002

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Psychiatric Solutions Inc filed

with the Delaware Secretary of State on March 21 2003 incorporated by reference to Appendix of the Companys
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on January 22 2003

3.4 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Psychiatric Solutions Inc filed

with the Delaware Secretary of State on December 15 2005 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2005

3.5 By-Laws incorporated by reference to Exhibit to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November

2007

4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 through 3.5
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4.2 Common Stock Specimen Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2002

4.3 Indenture dated as of July 2005 by and among Psychiatric Solutions Inc the Guarantors named therein and

Wachovia Bank National Association as Trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2005

4.4 Form of Notes included in Exhibit 4.3

4.5 Thirty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 21 2007 by and among Psychiatric Solutions Inc the

Guarantors named therein and U.S Bank National Association as Trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit to

the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 22 2007

4.6 Purchase Agreement dated as of May 24 2007 among Psychiatric Solutions Inc the subsidiaries named as

guarantors thereto and Citigroup Global Markets Inc and Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated as

representatives of the initial purchasers named therein incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25 2007

4.7 Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 31 2007 among Psychiatric Solutions Inc the subsidiaries of

Psychiatric Solutions Inc party thereto as guarantors and U.S Bank National Association as Trustee incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2007

4.8 Exchange and Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 31 2007 among Psychiatric Solutions Inc the

subsidiaries of Psychiatric Solutions Inc party thereto as guarantors and Citigroup Global Markets Inc Merrill

Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated Banc of America Securities LLC and J.P Morgan Securities Inc

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed June on 2007

10.1 Employment Agreement dated as of May 10 2007 between Joey Jacobs and Psychiatric Solutions Inc

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 15 2007

0.2t Form of Indemnification Agreement executed by each director of Psychiatric Solutions Inc and Psychiatric Solutions

Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2004

10.3 ISDA Master Agreement dated as of November 29 2007 between Merrill Lynch Capital Services Inc and

Psychiatric Solutions Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-

filed on May 2008

10.4 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 2005 by and among Psychiatric Solutions Inc

the subsidiaries named as guarantors thereto Citicorp North America Inc as term loan facility administrative agent

co-syndication agent and documentation agent Bank of America N.A as revolving loan facility administrative agent

collateral agent swing line lender and co-syndication agent and the various other agents and lenders party thereto

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2005

10.5 Amendment No to Psychiatric Solutions Inc.s Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of

December 2006 by and between Psychiatric Solutions Inc BHC Holdings Inc Premier Behavioral Solutions

Inc Alternative Behavioral Services Inc the subsidiaries of Psychiatric Solutions Inc party thereto as guarantors

Citicorp North America Inc as Term Loan Facility Administrative Agent Bank of America N.A as Revolving

Credit Facility Administrative Agent Citigroup Global Markets Inc and Banc of America Securities LLC as the

Arrangers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December

2006

10.6 Amendment No to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 2006 by and among

Psychiatric Solutions Inc BHC Holdings Inc Premier Behavioral Solutions Inc Alternative Behavioral Services

Inc Horizon Health Corporation ABS LINCS PR Inc First Hospital Panamericano Inc FHCHS of Puerto Rico

Inc First Corrections Puerto-Rico Inc the subsidiaries of Psychiatric Solutions Inc party thereto as guarantors

Citicorp North America Inc as term loan facility administrative agent Bank of America N.A as revolving credit

facility administrative agent Citigroup Global Markets Inc and Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated

as joint lead arrangers and joint book-running managers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2007
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10.7 Psychiatric Solutions Inc 2008 Long Term Equity Compensation Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0.2 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 27 2008

10.81- Amended and Restated Psychiatric Solutions Inc Equity Incentive Plan as amended by an Amendment adopted on

May 2004 incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April

2004

10.91- Second Amendment to the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix

to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 22 2005

10.101- Third Amendment to the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix of

the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 21 2006

10.111- Fourth Amendment to the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix

to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 10 2008

10.121- Psychiatric Solutions Inc Executive Performance Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix of the

Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April21 2006

10.131- Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2007

10.141- Form of Restricted Stock Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Companys Quarterly Report on

Form l0-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2006

10.151- Amended and Restated Psychiatric Solutions Inc Outside Directors Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan incorporated

by reference to Appendix to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 14 2003

10.161- Amendment to the Amended and Restated Psychiatric Solutions Inc Outside Directors Stock Option Plan

incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Companys Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 22 2005

10.171- Form of Outside Directors Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30 1997

10.181- 2008 Executive Officer Compensation incorporated by reference to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed

on October 29 2007

10.191- Psychiatric Solutions Inc 2008 Cash Bonus Plans incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 27 2008

10.201- Summary of Director Compensation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

10.211- Outside Director Retainer Increase incorporated by reference to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed on

October 20 2008

21.1 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Psychiatric Solutions Inc Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Accounting Officer of Psychiatric Solutions Inc Pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of Psychiatric Solutions Inc Pursuant to

Rule 3a- 14b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant

___________to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

1- Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRJVI

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Psychiatric Solutions Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Psychiatric Solutions Inc as of December 31 2008 and 2007

and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2008 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position

of Psychiatric Solutions Inc at December 31 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No 48 Accounting for

Uncertainty in Income Taxes-An Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 effective January 2007

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Psychiatric Solutions Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in Internal

Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report

dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Nashville Tennessee

February 25 2009
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERIAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is

defined in Exchange Act Rules 3a-1 51 and 5d- 15f Under the supervision and with the participation of our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued

by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based on that evaluation our management

concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2008

Our accompanying consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent registered public accounting firm of

Ernst Young LLP Reports of the independent registered public accounting firmincluding the independent registered public

accounting firms report on our internal control over financial reporting are included in this document
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Psychiatric Solutions Inc

We have audited Psychiatric Solutions Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission the COSO criteria Psychiatric Solutions Inc.s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the

assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fmancial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being

made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance

regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Psychiatric Solutions Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31 2008 based on the COSO criteria

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of Psychiatric Solutions Inc as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements

of income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the period ended December 31 2008 of Psychiatric

Solutions Inc and our report dated February 25 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Nashville Tennessee

February 25 2009
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS iNC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands

December 31
2008 2007

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 51271 39970

Accounts receivable less allowance for doubtthl accounts of

$48882 and $35398 respectively 248236 230600

Prepaids and other 101363 68235

Total current assets 400870 338805

Property and equipment

Land 176933 153550

Buildings 673071 540081

Equipment 98503 74921

Less accumulated depreciation 112284 76417

836223 692135

Cost in excess of net assets acquired 1201492 1071275

Other assets 66175 75889

Total assets $2504760 $2178104

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 35401 30996

Salaries and benefits payable 85813 82101

Other accrued liabilities 76542 61861

Current portion of long-term debt 34414 6016

Total current liabilities 232170 180974

Long-term debt less current porlion 1280006 1166008

Deferred tax liability 69471 49131

Other liabilities 28271 23090

Total liabilities 1609918 1419203

Minority interest 4957 4159

Stockholders equity

Common stock $0.01 par value 125000 shares authorized

55934 and 55107 issued and outstanding respectively 559 551

Additional paid-in capital 608341 574943

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3695 479
Retained earnings 284680 179727

Total stockholders equity 889885 754742

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $2504760 $2178104

See accompanying notes
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
in thousands except for per share amounts

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenue 1765977 1460679 1004422

Salaries wages and employee benefits including share-based

compensation of$ 19913 $16104 and $12535 for the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively 971284 812505 567762

Professional fees 179307 144895 94907

Supplies 95088 80170 57207

Rentals and leases 23181 20404 12801

Other operating expenses 169562 136912 93652

Provision for doubtful accounts 34606 27482 19437

Depreciation and amortization 40309 30756 20333

Interest expense 78648 74978 40303

Loss on refinancing long-term debt 8179

1591985 1336281 906402

Income from continuing operations before incorne taxes 173992 124398 98020

Provision for income taxes 66117 47034 37011

Income from continuing operations 107875 77364 61009

Loss fmm discontinued operations net of income tax benefit

of $131 $127 and $228 for 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively 2922 1156 377
Netincome 104953 76208 60632

Basic earnings per share

Income from continuing operations 1.94 1.42 1.15

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes 0.05 0.02
Net income 1.89 1.40 1.15

Diluted earnings per share

Income from continuing operations 1.92 1.39 1.13

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes 0.05 0.02 0.01
Netincome 1.87 1.37 1.12

Shares used in computing per share amounts

Basic 55408 54258 52953

Diluted 56267 55447 54169

See accompanying notes
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

in thousands

Balance at December 31 2005

Share-based compensation

Common stock issued in

acquisition

Exercise of stock options and

grant of restricted stock net

of issuance costs

Income tax benefit of stock option

exercises

Net income

Balance at December 31 2006

Compithensive income

Net income

Change in fair value of interest rate

swap net of tax benefit of $308

Total comprehensive income

Share-based compensation

Common stock issued in

acquisition

Exercise of stock options and

grants of restricted stock net

of issuance costs

Cumulative adjustment for

adoption of FIN 48

Income tax benefit of stock option

exercises

Balance at December 31 2007

omptehensive income

Net income

Change in fair value of interest rate

swap net of tax benefit of $2154

Total comprehensive income

Share-based compensation

Common stock issued in

acquisition

Exercise of stock options and

grants of restricted stock net

of issuance costs

Income tax benefit of stock option

exercises

Balance at December 31 2008

Additional

__________________
Paid-In

_______ ________ Capital

$495768

12535

130 4276

861 6260

4354

53421 534 523193

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Loss

9428

55107 551 574943 479

17235

533 533

9428

179727 754742

104953 104953

See accompanying notes

Connnon Stock

Shares Amount

52430 524

Retained

Earnings Total

43420 539712

12535

4277

6269

4354

60632 60632

104052 627779

76208 76208

479 479
75729

16104

9000

16104

243 8998

1443 15 17220

19913

27 1000

800 9433

3052

55934 559 $608341

3216 3216
101737

19913

1000

9441

3052

3695 284680 889885
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Operating activities

Net income 104953 76208 60632

Adjustments to reconcile net income to

net cash provided by continuing

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 40309 30756 20333

Amortization of loan costs and bond premium 2213 2151 1672

Share-based compensation 19913 16104 12535

Loss on refinancing long-term debt 8179

Change in income tax assets and liabilities 5034 8639 35322

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes 2922 1156 377

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

net of effect of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 16756 13387 8475
Prepaids and other current assets 4175 6093 10294
Accounts payable 2388 7517 227

Salaries and benefits payable 1723 2351 5294

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities 5866 6346 5259

Net cash provided by continuing operating activities 142590 124387 122882

Net cash used in provided by discontinued operating activities 807 1134 971

Net cash provided by operating activities 141783 125521 123853

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired 166156 462820 385078
Capital purchases of leasehold improvements

equipment and software 123985 73222 33816
Other assets 1318 2451 594
Net cash used in continuing investing activities 291459 53 8493 419488
Net cash provided by discontinued investing activities 5244 1909

Net cash used in investing activities 286215 536584 419488

Continued
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Financing activities

Net increase decrease in revolving credit facility less acquisitions 149333 1000 101000

Bormwings on long-term debt 481875 150000

Principal payments on long-term debt 6067 41281 465
Payment of loan and issuance costs 59 6661 1576
Refinancing of long-term debt 7127
Excess tax benefit from share based payment arrangements 3052 9428 4354

Proceeds from exercises of common stock options 9474 7279 6309

Net cash pmvided by financing activities 155733 432513 259622

Net increase decrease in cash 11301 21450 36013
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 39970 18520 54533

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 51271 39970 18520

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest paid 82704 62864 40177

Income taxes paid refunded 68151 29924 2656

Effect of Acquisitions

Assets acquired net of cash acquired 172875 518348 432533

Liabilities assumed 5719 37826 32819

Common stock issued 1000 9000 4277
Long-termdebtassumed 8702 10359
Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired 166156 462820 385078

See accompanying notes
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Psychiatric Solutions Inc was incorporated in 1988 as Delaware corporation and has its corporate office in Franklin Tennessee

Psychiatric Solutions Inc and its subsidiaries we us or our are leading provider of inpatient behavioral health care services

in the United States Through our owned and leased facilities we operated 94 owned or leased inpatient behavioral health care

facilities with approximately 10000 beds in 31 states Puerto Rico and the U.S Virgin Islands at December 31 2008 Our other

behavioral health care business primarily consists of our contract management and employee assistance program EAP businesses

Our contract management business involves the development organization and management of behavioral health care and

rehabilitation programs within medical/surgical hospitals Our EAP business contracts with employers to assist employees and their

dependents with resolution of behavioral conditions or other personal concerns

Recent Developments

Effective March 2008 we completed the acquisition of five inpatient behavioral health care facilities from United Medical

Corporation UMC which are located in Florida and Kentucky and include approximately 400 beds During the second quarter of

2008 we opened Lincoln Prairie Behavioral Health Center 120-bed inpatient facility in Springfield Illinois

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and

accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those estimates The majority of our expenses are cost of revenue items Costs

that could be classified as general and administrative expenses at our corporate office excluding share-based compensation expense

were approximately 2.6% of net revenue for the year ended December 31 2008

The consolidated financial statements include all wholly-owned subsidiaries and entities controlled by Psychiatric Solutions Inc The

consolidated financial statements include one inpatient behavioral health care facility in which we own controlling interest and

account for the ownership interest of the non-controlling partner as minority interest All significant intercompany balances and

transactions are eliminated in consolidation

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of demand deposits held at financial institutions We place our cash in financial institutions that are federally insured At

December 31 2008 the majority of our cash is deposited with two financial institutions Cash equivalents are short-term investments

with original maturities of three months or less

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable vary according to the type of service being provided Accounts receivable for our owned and leased facilities

segment is comprised of patient service revenue and is recorded net of allowances for contractual discounts and estimated doubtful

accounts Such amounts are owed by various governmental agencies insurance companies and private patients Medicare comprised

approximately 9% and 11% of net patient receivables for our owned and leased facilities at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively Medicaid comprised approximately 26% and 28% of net patient receivables for our owned and leased facilities at

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Concentration of credit risk from other payors is reduced by the large number of patients

and payors

Accounts receivable for our management contracts and EAP services is comprised of contractually determined fees for services

rendered Such amounts are recorded net of estimated allowances for doubtful accounts Concentration of credit risk is reduced by the

large number of customers

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our ability to collect outstanding patient receivables from third party payors is critical to our operating performance and cash flows

The primary collection risk with regard to patient receivables is uninsured patient accounts or patient accounts for which primary

insurance has paid but the portion owed by the patient remains outstanding We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts

primarily based upon the age of the accounts since the patient discharge date We continually monitor our accounts receivable
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31 2008

balances and utilize cash collection data to support our estimates of the provision for doubtful accounts Significant changes in payor

mix or business office operations could have significant impact on our results of operations and cash flows

Allowances for Contractual Discounts

The Medicare and Medicaid regulations are complex and various managed care contracts may include multiple reimbursement

mechanisms for different types of services provided in our inpatient facilities and cost settlement provisions requiring complex

calculations and assumptions subject to interpretation We estimate the allowance for contractual discounts on payor-specific basis

given our interpretation of the applicable regulations or contract terms The services authorized and provided and related

reimbursement are often subject to interpretation that could result in payments that differ from our estimates Additionally updated

regulations and contract renegotiations occur frequently necessitating continual review and assessment of the estimation process by

our management

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined

based upon differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using

the enacted tax laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is

established when we believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized We adopted FASB

Interpretation No 48 FIN 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes An Interpretation of FASB Statement No 109 on

January 2007 which requires significant judgments regarding the recognition and measurement of each tax position Our policy is

to classif interest and penalties related to income taxes as component of our tax provision

Long-Lived Assets

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets which

range from 25 to 35 years for buildings and improvements and to years for equipment Leasehold improvements are amortized on

straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful lives of the assets Depreciation expense was $36.4 million

$28.9 million and $19.7 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Depreciation expense includes

the amortization of assets recorded under capital leases

Cost in Excess of Net Assets Acquired Goodwill

We account for acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting Goodwill is generally allocated to reporting units based on

operating results Goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment Potential impairment is noted for reporting unit if its

carrying value exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit For those reporting units that we have identified with potential impairment

of goodwill we determine the implied fair value of goodwill If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value an

impairment loss is recorded Our annual impairment test of goodwill in 2008 2007 and 2006 resulted in no goodwill impairment

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 in

thousands

Balance at December 31 2006 757021

Acquisition of Horizon Health 284446

Other Acquisitions 29808

Balance at December 31 2007 1071275

Acquisition of UMC facilities 85459

Other Acquisitions 44758

Balance at December 31 2008 1201492

Other Assets

Other assets include contracts that represent the fair value of inpatient management contracts and service contracts purchased and are

being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated life which is between years and years At December 31 2008

and 2007 contracts totaled $28.9 million and $26.5 million and are net of accumulated amortization of $7.8 million and $4.4 million

respectively The 2008 increase in intangible contract value is primarily the result of the fair value assigned to contracts assumed in

the acquisition of Horizon Health Amortization expense related to contracts was $3.6 million $1.7 million and $0.7 million for the
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PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Estimated amortization expense related to contracts for each of the five

years ending December 31 2013 is approximately $3.1 million

When events circumstances and operating results indicate that the carrying values of certain long-lived assets and the related

identifiable intangible assets might be impaired we prepare projections of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from

the use of the assets and their eventual disposition If the projections indicate that the recorded amounts are not expected to be

recoverable such amounts are reduced to estimated fair value Fair value is estimated based upon projections of discounted cash

flows

Other assets also include loan costs that are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt Loan costs at December 31 2008

and 2007 totaled $14.0 million and $16.8 million respectively and are net of accumulated amortization of $8.1 million and $5.2

million respectively Amortization
expense related to loan costs which is reported as interest expense was approximately $2.9

million $2.5 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Estimated amortization

expense of loan costs for the years ending December 31 2009201020112012 and 2013 is $2.9 million $2.3 million $2.4 million

$1.8 million and $1.3 million respectively

Other Accrued Liabilities

At December 31 2008 and 2007 we had approximately $18.3 million and $21.9 million respectively of accrued interest expense in

other accrued liabilities

Share-Based Compensation

We adopted Statement on Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 123 Revised 2004 Share Based Payment SFAS 23R
under the modified-prospective transition method on January 2006 SFAS 23R requires companies to measure and recognize the

cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value Share-based

compensation recognized under the modified-prospective transition method of SFAS 123R includes share-based compensation based

on the grant-date fair value determined in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No 123 Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation SFAS 123 for all share-based payments granted prior to and not yet vested as of January 2006 and share-based

compensation based on the grant-date fair-value determined in accordance with SFAS 23R for all share-based payments granted on

or after January 2006 We use the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine grant-date fair value and use straight-line

amortization of share-based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the grant

Derivatives

We may periodically enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates These interest

rate swap agreements effectively exchange fixed or variable interest payments between two parties During 2007 we entered into an

agreement to exchange the interest payments associated with notional amount of $225 million LIBOR indexed variable rate debt

related to our senior secured term loan for fixed interest rate Under SFAS No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities as amended SFAS 133 we have designated this agreement as cash flow hedge and have deemed it to be

highly effective We assess the effectiveness of the hedge quarterly All changes in the fair value of highly effective cash flow hedge

are recognized as component of other comprehensive income Any change in the fair value of an ineffective portion of cash flow

hedge would be recorded to the income statement If the interest rate swap arrangement is canceled the gain or loss associated with

the cancellation would be amortized through interest
expense over the life of the agreement

Risk Management

We are subject to medical malpractice and other lawsuits due to the nature of the services we provide Our operations have

professional and general liability insurance in umbrella form for claims in excess of $3.0 million self-insured retention with an

insured excess limit of $50.0 million Effective December 31 2008 we increased this insured excess limit to $75.0 million The self-

insured reserves for professional and general liability risks are estimated based on historical claims demographic factors industry

trends severity factors and other actuarial assumptions calculated by an independent third-party actuary This self-insurance reserve

is discounted to its present value using 5% discount rate This estimated accrual for professional and general liabilities could be

significantly affected should current and future occurrences differ from historical claim trends and expectations We have utilized our

captive insurance company to manage the self-insured retention While claims are monitored closely when estimating professional and

general liability accruals the complexity of the claims and wide
range of potential outcomes often hampers timely adjustments to the

assumptions used in these estimates The reserve for professional and general liability was approximately $20.0 million and $15.1

million as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively This increase is primarily related to the revised assessment of certain claims

at amounts higher than those originally anticipated and the actuarial implications of such revisions

F- 12



PSYCHIATRIC SOLUTIONS INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

We carry statutory workers compensation insurance from an unrelated commercial insurance carrier Our statutory workers

compensation program is fully insured with $350000 deductible per accident We believe that adequate provision has been made for

workers compensation and professional and general liability risk exposures The reserve for workers compensation liability was

approximately $20.9 million and $18.1 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The canying amounts reported in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash accounts receivable and accounts payable

approximate their fair value given the short-term maturity of these instruments The fair value of our $470.0 million 73/4% Senior

Subordinated Notes due 2015 73/4% Notes was $343.7 million and $467.1 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year to conform with current year presentation

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities An Amendment of

SFAS 133 SFAS 161 SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about derivative and hedging activities SFAS 161 is effective for

fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 We will adopt the provisions of SFAS 161 on January 2009

We are currently assessing the impact if any of the adoption of SFAS 161 on our consolidated financial statement disclosures

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 Business Combinations SFAS 141 to replace Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 141 Business Combinations SPAS 141 requires use of the acquisition method of accounting defines the

acquirer establishes the acquisition date requires acquisition-related costs to be expensed as incurred and broadens the
scope

of

business combination to include transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses

We will adopt SFAS l4lR on January 2009 At the time of adoption we do not expect that SFAS141R will have significant

impact on our consolidated financial statements However for any acquisitions completed during or after 2009 the effect of SFAS

141 could be significant to those acquisitions

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statementsan Amendment

ofARB No 51 SFAS 160 SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

and for the retaijied interest and gain or loss when subsidiary is deconsolidated We will adopt SFAS 160 on January 2009 and do

not expect the adoption to have significant impact on our consolidated financial statements

In February 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial LiabilitiesIncluding

an Amendment of SFAS 115 SFAS 159 which permits but does not require the measurement of financial instruments and certain

other items at fair value SFAS 159 requires reporting in earnings unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option

has been elected Upon the effective date of SFAS 159 which was January 2008 we did not elect the fair value option for any
of

our financial instruments

Revenue

Revenue consists of the following amounts in thousands

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Patient service revenue $1589903 $1336554 958318

Other revenue 176074 124125 46104

Total revenue $1765977 $1460679 $1004422

Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue is generated by our inpatient facilities from services provided to patients on an inpatient and outpatient basis

Patient service revenue is recorded at our established billing rates less contractual adjustments Contractual adjustments are recorded

to state our patient service revenue at the amount we expect to collect for the services provided based on amounts reimbursable by

Medicare or Medicaid under provisions of cost or prospective reimbursement formulas or amounts due from other third-party payors

at contractually determined rates During the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 approximately 29% 32% and 36%
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2008

respectively of our revenue was obtained from providing services to patients participating in the Medicaid program During the years

ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 approximately 13% 12% and 13% respectively of our revenue was obtained from

providing services to patients participating in the Medicare program

Settlements under cost reimbursement agreements with third-party payors are estimated and recorded in the period in which the

related services are rendered and are adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined Final determination of amounts

earned under the Medicare and Medicaid programs often occur in subsequent years because of audits by such programs rights of

appeal and the application of numerous technical provisions

We provide care without charge to patients who are financially unable to pay for the health care services they receive Because we do

not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care these amounts are not reported as revenue

Other Revenue

Other revenue primarily derives from our contract management and EAP businesses Our contract management business involves the

development organization and management of behavioral health care programs within medical/surgical hospitals Our EAP business

contracts with companies to assist its employees and their dependents with resolution of behavioral conditions or other personal

concerns Services provided are recorded as revenue at contractually determined rates in the period the services are rendered provided

that collectability of such amounts is reasonably assured

Earnings Per Share

SFAS No 128 Earnings per Share SFAS 128 requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share by entities with

complex capital structures Basic earnings per share includes no dilution and is computed by dividing net income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted earnings per share also includes

the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings of the entity We have calculated earnings per share in accordance

with SFAS 128 for all periods presented

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share in thousands except per share amounts

Year ended December 31

Numerator

Basic and diluted earnings per share

Income frum continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes

Net income

Denominator

Weighted average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 55408 54258 52953

Effectsofdilutive stockoptions and restriced stockoutstanding 859 1189 1216

Shares used in computing diluted earnings per common share 56267 55447 54169

Basic earnings per share

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued opemtions net of taxes

Diluted earnings per share

Income from continuing operations 1.92 1.39 1.13

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes 0.05 0.02 0.01

1.87 1.37 1.12

Discontinued Operations

SFAS No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal ofLong-LivedAssets requires that all components of an entity that have

been disposed of by sale by abandonment or in distribution to owners or are held for sale and whose cash flows can be clearly
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December 31 2008

distinguished from the rest of the entity be presented as discontinued operations During 2008 we elected to sell one facility

Additionally two contracts with Puerto Rican juvenile justice agency to manage inpatient facilities were terminated in 2008 During

2007 we elected to dispose of one facility During 2006 we terminated three of our contracts to manage state-owned inpatient

facilities and sold therapeutic boarding school Prior to the decision to discontinue these operations their results were reported in our

owned and leased facilities segment

The components of loss from discontinued operations net of taxes are as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Revenue 14799 23490 24154

Operating expenses 15935 24006 23334

Loss on disposal 1917 767 1425

17852 24773 24759

Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes 3053 1283 605
Benefit from income taxes 131 127 228
Loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes 2922 1156 377

The loss on disposal for the year ended December 31 2008 includes approximately $2.3 million of goodwill disposed of when we

elected to sell facility in 2008

Acquisitions

2008 Acquisition

On March 2008 we acquired five inpatient behavioral health care facilities with approximately 400 beds from UMC for $120.0

million The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method and the purchase price allocation for the UMC facilities is

preliminary as of December 31 2008 pending final measurement of certain assets and liabilities related to the acquisition

2007 Acquisitions

During 2007 we acquired 16 inpatient behavioral health care facilities with an aggregate of approximately 1600 beds including the

May 31 2007 acquisition of Horizon Health which operated 15 inpatient facilities Each acquisition was accounted for by the

purchase method and the aggregate purchase prices of these transactions were allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed

based upon their respective fair values The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the acquired

entities for the period subsequent to the acquisition date As the acquisition of Horizon Health involved merger the goodwill

associated with this acquisition is not deductible for federal income tax purposes

The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of Horizon Health in thousands

Horizon Health

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 42025

Other current assets 15178

Fixed assets 96664

Costs in excess of net assets acquired 296068

Other assets 24102

474037

Liabilities assumed 37896

Long-term debt assumed 6998

Cash paid net of cash acquired 429143
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Acquisition-related direct costs paid subsequent to closing have been included as part of the acquisition

2006 Acquisitions

During 2006 we acquired 19 inpatient behavioral health care facilities with an aggregate of approximately 1900 beds including the

December 2006 purchase of the capital stock of Alternative Behavioral Services Inc ABS which owned nine inpatient

facilities Each acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method and the aggregate purchase prices of these transactions were

allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values The consolidated financial statements

include the accounts and operations of the acquired entities for the periods subsequent to the acquisition date As the acquisition of

ABS involved the acquisition of stock the goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for federal income tax purposes

The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of ABS in thousands

ABS

Assets acquired

Accounts receivable 23420

Other current assets 9129

Fixed assets 65438

Costs in excess of net assets acquired 148312

Other assets 413

246712

Liabilities assumed 30721

Common stock issued 4277

Cash paid net of cash acquired 211714

Long-term debt

Long-term debt consists of the following in thousands

December 31
2008 2007

Senior credit facility

Revolving line of credit facility expiring on December21 2009

extended to December 31 2011 for $200000 in February 2009
and bearing interest of 3.4% and 6.4% at December 31 2008

and December 31 2007 respectively 229333 80000

Senior secured term loan facility expiring on July 2012

and bearing interest of 3.1% and 6.8% at December 31 2008

and December 31 2007 respectively 568625 573312

3/4% Notes 475841 476508

Mortgage loans on facilities maturing in 2036 2037 and 2038

bearing fixed interest rates of 5.7% to 7.6% 33273 33671

Other 7348 8533

1314420 1172024

Less current portion 34414 6016

Long-term debt 1280006 1166008

Senior Credit Facility

Our Senior Credit Facility the Credit Agreement includes $300 million revolving line of credit facility with Bank of America

N.A Bank of America and $575 million senior secured term loan facility with Citicorp North America Inc During February

2009 our revolving credit facility was amended to extend the maturity of $200 million capacity to December 31 2011 see Note 18

Subsequent Event The remaining $100 million capacity under our revolving credit facility will mature on December 21 2009 as

originally scheduled As result of this extension $200 million of the $229.3 million balance outstanding under the revolving credit
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facility at December 31 2008 has been classified as non-current liability with the remainder classified in current portion of long-

term debt Quarterly principal payments of $0.9 million are due on our senior secured term loan facility and the balance of our senior

secured term loan facility is payable in full on July 2012

Lehman Brothers Commercial Paper Lehman is participant in our revolving credit facility Under the terms of our Second

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement as amended Lehman committed to $25.0 million of the $300.0 million revolving credit

facility As result of the bankruptcy filing of Lehman on September 15 2008 we have not been able to access any of Lehmans

remaining unfunded commitment of approximately $5.9 million as of December 31 2008 Unless Lehmans commitment is assumed

by another party the availability for future borrowings under our revolving credit facility may continue to be reduced by Lehmans

remaining unfunded commitment

Our Credit Agreement is secured by substantially all of the personal property owned by us or our subsidiaries substantially all real

property owned by us or our subsidiaries that has value in excess of $5.0 million and the stock of our operating subsidiaries In

addition the Credit Agreement is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by substantially all of our operating subsidiaries The revolving

credit facility and senior secured term loan facility accrue interest at our choice of the Base Rate or the Eurodollar Rate as

defined in the Credit Agreement and are due December 21 2009 and July 2012 respectively The Base Rate and Eurodollar

Rate fluctuate based upon market rates and certain leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Agreement At December 31 2008 we

had $229.3 million in borrowings outstanding and $63.9 million available for future borrowings under the revolving credit facility

Until the maturity date we may borrow repay and re-borrow an amount not to exceed $300 million on our revolving credit facility

All repayments made under the senior secured term loan facility are permanent reduction in the amount available for future

borrowings At December 31 2008 we paid quarterly commitment fee on the unused portion of our revolving credit facility that

fluctuates based upon certain leverage ratios between 0.25% and 0.5% per annum Commitment fees were approximately $0.3

million for the year ended December 31 2008

Our Credit Agreement contains customary covenants that include limitation on capital expenditures and investments sales of

assets mergers changes of ownership new principal lines of business indebtedness transactions with affiliates dividends and

redemptions various financial covenants and cross-default covenants triggered by default of any other indebtedness of at

least $5.0 million As of December 31 2008 we were in compliance with all debt covenant requirements If we violate one or more of

these covenants amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility senior secured term loan facility and the majority of our other

debt arrangements could become immediately payable and additional borrowings could be restricted

73/4% Notes

The 73/4% Notes mature on July 15 2015 and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on senior subordinated basis by substantially

all of our existing operating subsidiaries We received premium of 2.75% plus accrued interest from the sale of $250 million of

73/4% Notes in 2007 This premium is being amortized over the remaining life of the 73/4% Notes using the effective interest method

which results in an effective interest rate of 7.3% on the $250 million issuance Interest on these notes accrues at the rate of 73/4% per

annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15

Mortgage Loans

At December 31 2008 we had $33.3 million debt outstanding under mortgage loan agreements insured by the U.S Department of

Housing and Urban Development HUD The mortgage loans insured by HUD are secured by real estate located at Holly Hill

Hospital in Raleigh North Carolina West Oaks Hospital in Houston Texas Riveredge Hospital near Chicago Illinois Canyon Ridge

Hospital in Chino California and MeadowWood Behavioral Health in New Castle Delaware Interest accrues on the Holly Hill West

Oaks Riveredge Canyon Ridge and MeadowWood HUD loans at 6.0% 5.9% 5.7% 7.6% and 7.0% and principal and interest are

payable in 420 monthly installments through December 2037 September 2038 December 2038 January 2036 and October 2036

respectively The carrying amount of assets held as collateral approximated $43.6 million at December 31 2008

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We periodically enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates During 2007 we

entered into an agreement with Merrill Lynch Capital Services Inc to exchange the interest payments associated with notional

amount of $225 million of LIBOR indexed variable rate debt related to our senior secured term loan for fixed interest rate of 3.8%

The agreement matures on November 30 2009 The interest payments associated with this agreement are settled on net basis and

are included in interest expense The fair value of our interest rate swap at December 31 2008 reflected an other current liability of

$6.2 million which represents its fair value
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Other

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt including capital lease obligations are as follows in thousands

2009 34414

2010 4877

2011 204833

2012 558426

2013 1079

Thereafter 510791

Total 1314420

Leases

Our operating leases consist primarily of the leases of seven inpatient behavioral health care facilities our corporate office and the

office for our contract management and EAP business At December 31 2008 future minimum lease payments under operating leases

having an initial or remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year are as follows in thousands

2009 13328

2010 10450

2011 7968

2012 5463

2013 4812

Thereafter 302 10

Total 72231

We entered into an agreement in 2008 to purchase hospital building that was previously leased Remaining payments of $19.0

million are due in 2009

Income Taxes

Total provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was allocated as follows in thousands

2008 2007 2006

Provision for income taxes attributable

to income from continuing operations 66117 47034 37011

Benefit fmm income taxes attributable

to loss from discontinued operations 131 127 228
Total provision for income taxes 65986 46907 36783

The provision for income taxes attributable to income from continuing operations consists of the following in thousands

2008 2007 2006

Current

Federal 43338 31899 9684

State 4983 4937 2341

Foreign 2178 4121 219

50499 40957 12244

Deferred

Federal 13371 8078 24132

State 2044 460 342

Foreign 203 1541 293

15618 6077 24767

Provision for income taxes 66117 47034 37011
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The tax benefits associated with exercises of nonqualified stock options decreased the current tax liability by $3.1 million

$9.4 million and $4.4 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Such benefits were recorded as increases to stockholders equity

The reconciliation of income tax computed by applying the U.S federal statutory rate to the actual income tax expense attributable to

income from continuing operations is as follows in thousands

2008 2007 2006

Federal tax 60897 43539 34307

State income taxes net of federal 4568 2910 1744

Other 652 585 960

Provision for income taxes 66117 47034 37011

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for

financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax purposes The tax effects of significant items comprising temporary

differences at December 31 2008 and 2007 are as follows in thousands

2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards 9146 10210

Allowance for doubtful accounts 13488 11218

Alternative minimum tax credit carryovers 794 1150

Accrued liabilities 39293 24757

Total gross deferredtax assets 62721 47335

Less Valuation allowance 4748 5640
Total deferted tax assets 57973 41695

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible assets 37567 16611

Property and equipment 57415 51509

Other 2658
Net deferred tax liability 39667 26425

Deferred income taxes of $29.8 million and $22.7 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively are included in other current

assets Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities totaled $69.5 million and $49.1 million at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively

GAAP requires that deferred income taxes reflect the tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities

and their carrying values for GAAP Future tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely

than not valuation allowance is established for those benefits that do not meet the more likely than not criteria We have evaluated

the need for valuation allowance against deferred tax assets and have recorded valuation allowances of $4.7 million $5.6 million

and $3.0 million at December31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The net change in valuation allowance was decrease of $0.9

million for the year ended December 31 2008 and an increase of $2.6 million for the year
ended December 31 2007 Any subsequent

changes to this valuation allowance will affect income tax expense

As of December 31 2008 we had an unrecognized deferred tax liability for temporary differences of $3.6 million related to

investments in our Puerto Rico subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in duration

As of December 31 2008 we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $8.5 million expiring in the years 2018 through 2027

state net operating loss carryforwards of $77.7 million expiring in various years through 2028 foreign net operating loss

carryforwards of $11.7 million expiring through 2011 and an alternative minimum tax credit carryover of approximately $0.8 million

available to reduce future federal income taxes

We adopted FiN 48 effective January 2007 Our policy is to classify interest and penalties related to income taxes as component

of our tax provision We had gross unrecognized tax benefits of$l.7 million and $1.3 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively
The total amount of interest and penalties recognized in our consolidated balance sheet was $0.2 million as of December

31 2008 and 2007 The net impact on provision for income tax of unrecognized tax benefits if recognized would have been $0.5
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million and $0.3 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Upon adoption of SFAS 141R on January 12009 the net

impact of unrecognized tax benefits on the provision for income taxes would be $1.1 million if recognized

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

Balance as of January 12008 1272

Increases for tax positions taken in the current year 698

Reductions due to lapse of statute of limitations 246
Balance as of December 31 2008 1724

Our tax years 2005 through 2008 remain open to examination by federal and state taxing authorities In addition our 2004 tax year
remains open to examination in certain states

In addition ABS an entity acquired in 2006 has pre-acquisition federal income tax returns which remain open to examination back to

the year 2002 Certain pre-acquisition state income tax returns of acquired ABS subsidiaries also remain open to examination for the

years 2002 through 2006 We are fully indemnified under the ABS stock purchase agreement for any liabilities resulting from

examinations of pre-acquisition tax returns

Horizon Health has federal and state tax years which remain open to examination going back to 2005 and in certain states going back

to 2004 We have no indemnification for any pre-acquisition liabilities that may result from examinations of Horizon Health income

tax returns for pre-acquisition periods

In the next twelve months we anticipate increases in unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $0.3 million related to certain state

tax issues and we anticipate potential reductions in unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $0.4 million related to certain state tax

expired statutes of limitation

Stock Option Plans

maximum of 13116666 shares of our common stock are authorized for grant as stock options restricted stock or other share-based

compensation under the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Equity Incentive Plan the Equity Incentive Plan Under the Equity Incentive

Plan stock options may be granted for terms of up to ten years Grants to employees generally vest in annual increments of 25% each

year commencing on the date of grant or one year after the date of grant The exercise prices of stock options are equal to the closing
sales prices of our common stock on the date of grant or the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant

maximum of 683334 shares of our common stock are authorized for grant as stock options under the Psychiatric Solutions Inc
Outside Directors Stock Option Plan the Directors Plan The Directors Plan provides for grant of 8000 stock options at each

annual meeting of stockholders to each outside director at the fair market value of our common stock on the trading day immediately

preceding the date of grant The Directors Plan also provides for an initial grant of 12000 stock options to each new outside director

on the date of the directors initial election or appointment to the board of directors The options vest 25% on the grant date and 25%
on the succeeding three anniversaries of the grant date and generally have terms of ten years

Stock option activity during 2008 is as follows number of options and aggregate intrinsic value in thousands

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

umber Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

of Options Price Term in years Value

Outstanding at December31 2007 6055 $28.41 n/a n/a

Granted 1590 $30.60 n/a n/a

Canceled 643 $33.61 n/a n/a

Exercised 490 $19.25 n/a n/a

Outstanding at December 31 2008 6512 $28.98 7.5 $24448

Exercisable at December31 2008 3223 $23.59 6.4 $23959

Of the 1.6 million stock options granted in 2008 approximately 65000 stock options were granted to management employees related

to recent acquisitions
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Restricted stock activity is as follows number of restricted shares in thousands

Weighted

Number Average

of Grant-

Restricted Date Fair

Shares Value

Unvested at December 31 2007 242 $40.20

Granted 318 $29.24

Canceled $0.00

Vested 62 $39.99

Unvested at December 31 2008 498 $33.23

We recognized $19.9 million $16.1 million and $12.5 million in share-based compensation expense and approximately $7.6 million

$6.1 million and $4.7 million of related income tax benefit for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Share-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31 2006 includes $2.2 million recorded in the quarter ended March

31 2006 resulting from reversing the cancellation and accelerating the vesting of 89014 stock options previously granted to our

former Chief Operating Officer Remaining share-based compensation expense was recorded as result of adopting SFAS 23R The

impact of share-based compensation expense net of tax on our basic and diluted earnings per share was approximately $0.22 $0.18

and $0.14 per share for the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Also as result of adopting SFAS l23R we

classified $3.1 million $9.4 million and $4.4 million in income tax benefits in excess of share-based compensation expense on stock

options exercised in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively as cash flow from financing activities in our Condensed Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows for the years
ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R

income tax benefits in excess of share-based compensation expense recognized on stock options exercised were classified as cash

flows from operations The fair value of our stock options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model We recognize

expense on all share-based awards on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award

The following table summarizes the weighted average grant-date fair values of options and the weighted average assumptions we used

to develop the fair value estimates under each of the option valuation models for options granted in the years ended December 31

2008 2007 and 2006

2008 2007 2006

Weighted average grant-date fair value of options 11.02 14.25 9.96

Risk-free interest rate 3% 5% 5%

Expected volatility 34% 35% 31%

Expected life

Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Our estimate of expected volatility for stock options granted in 2008 2007 and 2006 is based upon the historical volatility of our

common stock Our estimate of expected volatility for stock options granted prior to 2006 is based upon the historical volatility of

comparable companies Our estimate of expected term is based upon our historical stock option exercise experience

Based on our stock option and restricted stock grants outstanding at December 31 2008 we estimate remaining unrecognized share-

based compensation expense to be approximately $43.6 million with weighted average remaining amortization period of 2.6 years

The total intrinsic value which represents the difference between the underlying stocks market price and the options exercise price

of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $10.9 million $31.2 million and $19.4 million

respectively

10 Employee Benefit Plan

We sponsor
the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Retirement Savings Plan the Plan The Plan is tax-qualified profit sharing plan with

cash or deferred arrangement whereby employees who have completed three months of service and are age 21 or older are eligible to

participate The Plan allows eligible employees to make contributions of 1% to 85% of their annual compensation subject to annual
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limitations The Plan enables us to make discretionary contributions into each participants account that fully vest over four year

period based upon years of service

11 Contingencies and Health Care Regulation

Contingencies

We are subject to various claims and legal actions which arise in the ordinary course of business We have professional and general

liability insurance in umbrella form for claims in excess of $3.0 million self-insured retention with an insured excess limit of

$50.0 million Effective December 31 2008 we increased the insured excess limit to $75.0 million We believe the ultimate resolution

of such matters will be adequately covered by our self-insured reserves or insurance and will not have material adverse effect on our

financial position or results of operations

Employment Agreements

We entered into new employment agreement with Joey Jacobs our Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer on May 10

2007 The employment agreement superseded Mr Jacobs prior employment agreement with us The employment agreement expires

on December 31 2009 but is subject to automatic annual renewals absent prior notice from either party of the intent not to renew the

employment agreement Pursuant to the employment agreement Mr Jacobs base salary cash bonuses and incentive compensation

are subject to adjustment from time to time at the discretion of the Compensation Committee

If we terminate Mr Jacobs employment without cause or if Mr Jacobs resigns as result of constructive discharge as those

terms are defined in the employment agreement Mr Jacobs will receive lump sum severance payment equal to two times the

sum of his base salary on the date of termination and ii the most recent annual bonus paid to Mr Jacobs during the immediately

previous 12-month period Mr Jacobs will receive any earned but unpaid base salary which shall be paid in accordance with our

normal payroll practices Mr Jacobs will receive bonus compensation payable on prorated basis for the year of termination

which shall be paid at the same time our executive officers receive their bonuses for the year in which the termination occurred to

the extent that Mr Jacobs is eligible for and has elected continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget

Reconciliation Act of 1985 COBRA we agreed to waive all premiums for elected continuation coverage during such COBRA

period but not to exceed 18 months to the extent that Mr Jacobs is covered by an individual health policy we will pay all

reasonable premiums under such policy for 24 months following the termination date and all shares of restricted stock and

unvested stock options held by Mr Jacobs and scheduled to vest during the succeeding 24-month period will immediately vest and

any such options will remain exercisable for 12 months from the date of termination Termination whether voluntary or involuntary

of Mr Jacobs employment within 12 months following change in control as defined in the employment agreement shall be

treated as termination without cause

If Mr Jacobs employment terminates as result of his disability or death Mr Jacobs or his beneficiaries will be entitled to receive

any earned but unpaid base salary which shall be paid in accordance with the normal payroll practices of the Company In addition

Mr Jacobs or his beneficiaries will also receive any bonus compensation which is payable on prorated basis for the year of

termination and which shall be paid at the same time our executive officers receive their bonuses for the
year

in which the termination

occurred Finally all shares of restricted stock and unvested stock options held by Mr Jacobs will immediately vest upon his death or

termination for disability

If Mr Jacobs employment is terminated for cause as defined in the employment agreement or he resigns other than pursuant to

triggering event described above any earned but unpaid base salary shall be paid in accordance with our normal payroll practices but

we will not make any other payments or provide any benefits to Mr Jacobs

Current Operations

Final determination of amounts earned under prospective payment and cost-reimbursement arrangements is subject to review by

appropriate governmental authorities or their agents We believe adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may
result from such reviews

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are complex and subject to interpretation We believe that we
are in substantial compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and are not aware of any material pending or threatened

investigations involving allegations of potential wrongdoing While no material regulatory inquiries have been made compliance with

such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action

including fines penalties and exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs
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We have acquired and may continue to acquire corporations and other entities with prior operating histories Acquired entities may

have unknown or contingent liabilities for failure to comply with health care laws and regulations such as billing and reimbursement

fraud and abuse and similar anti-referral laws Although we attempt to assure ourselves that no such liabilities exist and obtain

indemnification from prospective sellers covering such matters there can be no assurance that any such matter will be covered by

indemnification or if covered that the liability sustained will not exceed contractual limits or the financial capacity of the

indemnifying party

12 Related Party Transactions

William Petrie M.D memberof our Board of Directors serves as President of Psychiatric Consultants P.C PCPC
practice group managed by us owns 14% interest in PCPC and is the medical director of Rolling Hills Hospital our facility in

Franklin TN The initial term of the PCPC management agreement was for three years It was most recently renewed for an additional

three year term on April 11 2006 The PCPC management agreement will continue to automatically renew for three year terms unless

terminated by either party Our management fee for PCPC is less than $0.2 million annually

13 Disclosures About Reportable Segments

In accordance with the criteria of SFAS No 131 Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information SFAS
131 our owned and leased behavioral health care facilities segment is our only reportable segment Our inpatient facilities are

organized in reporting structure comprised of divisions and markets Each division/market qualifies as an operating segment under

SFAS 131 However we have aggregated our inpatient facility divisions/markets into one reportable segment based on the similarity

of the economic characteristics of the divisions/markets As of December 31 2008 the owned and leased facilities segment provides

mental health and behavioral heath services to patients in its 87 owned and leased inpatient facilities in 31 states Puerto Rico and

the U.S Virgin Islands The column entitled Other in the schedules below includes management contracts to provide inpatient

psychiatric management and development services to inpatient behavioral health units in hospitals and clinics employee assistance

programs and managed care plan in Puerto Rico The operations included in the Other column do not qualify as reportable

segments
under SFAS 131 Activities classified as Corporate in the following schedules relate primarily to unallocated home office

expenses and discontinued operations

Adjusted EBITDA is non-GAAP financial measure and is defined as net income loss before discontinued operations interest

expense net of interest income income taxes depreciation amortization stock compensation and other items included in the caption

labeled Other expenses These other expenses may occur in future periods but the amounts recognized can vary significantly from

period to period and do not directly relate to ongoing operations of our health care facilities Our management relies on adjusted

EBITDA as the primary measure to review and assess the operating performance of our inpatient facilities and their management

teams We believe it is useful to investors to provide disclosures of our operating results on the same basis as that used by

management Management and investors also review adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our overall performance and to compare our

current operating results with corresponding periods and with other companies in the health care industry You should not consider

adjusted EBITDA in isolation or as substitute for net income operating cash flows or other cash flow statement data determined in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles Because adjusted EBITDA is not measure of financial performance

under generally accepted accounting principles and is susceptible to varying calculations it may not be comparable to similarly

titled measures of other companies The following is financial summary by reportable segment for the periods indicated dollars in
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Year Ended December 31 2008

Owned and

Leased

Facilities Other Corporate Consolidated

Revenue 1589903 176074 1765977

Year Ended December 31 2007

Owned and

Leased

Facilities Other Corporate Consolidated

Revenue

Adjusted EBITDA

Interest expense net

Provision for income taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Inter-segment expenses

Other expenses

Share-based compensation

Loss on refinancing long-teim debt

Total other expenses

Income loss from continuing operations

Total assets

Capital expenditures

Cost in excess of net assets acquired

1336554 124125

271197

30347

26770

55393

21850 38632
513 44118

47034

2526 1460

4914 60307

16104

8179

______________
24283

95220

114038

4078

______

Adjusted EBITDA 322175 35440 44753 312862
Interest expense net 28557 638 49453 78648

Provision for income taxes 66117 66117

Depreciation and amortization 33299 5468 1542 40309

Inter-segment expenses 63855 7659 71514
Other expenses

Share-based compensation 19913 19913

Total other expenses 19913 9913
Income loss from continuing operations 1.96464 21675 110264 107875

Total assets 2222072 146146 136542 2504760

Capitalexpenditures 118269 1381 4335 123985

Cost in excess of net assets acquired 1113161 88331 1201492

1460679

254415

74978

47034

30756

16104

8179

24283

77364

2178104

73222

1071275

158687

1959077

68719

1025702

13897

104989

425

45573
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Year Ended December 31 2006

Owned and

Leased

Facilities Other Corporate Consolidated

Revenue 958318 46104 1004422

Adjusted EBITDA 191684 8075 28568 171191

Interest expense net 13426 26879 40303

Provision for incometaxes 37011 37011

Depreciation and amortization 18396 677 1260 20333

Inter-segment expenses 28190 1668 29858

Other expenses

Share-based compensation 12535 12535

Totalotherexpenses 12535 12535

Income loss from continuing operations 131672 5732 76395 61009

Total assets 1454607 35285 89429 1579321

Capital expenditures 28858 69 4889 33816

Cost in excess of net assets acquired 736599 20422 757021

14 Other Information

summary of activity in allowance for doubtful accounts follows in thousands

Balances Additions Additions Accounts written Balances

at beginning charged to costs charged to off net of at end

of period and expenses other accounts recoveries of period

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year endedDecember 31 2006 15061 19437 12023 27974 18547

Year ended December 31 2007 18547 27482 12982 23613 35398

Year ended December 31 2008 35398 34606 21122 48882

Allowances as result of acquisitions

15 Quarterly Information Unaudited

Summarized results for each quarter in the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 are as follows in thousands except per share

data

rd th

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total Year

2008

Revenue 423829 448270 448015 445863 1765977

Income from continuing operations 25289 29359 28605 24622 107875

Net income 25496 29059 26377 24021 104953

Earnings per shai

Basic 0.46 0.53 0.48 0.43 1.89

Diluted 0.46 0.52 0.47 0.43 1.87

2007

Revenue 317475 348671 396419 398114 1460679

Income from continuing operations 18327 15308 20569 23160 77364

Netincome 18125 14607 20325 23151 76208

Earnings per share

Basic 0.34 0.27 0.37 0.42 1.40

Diluted 0.33 0.26 0.37 0.42 1.37
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As discussed in Note we elected to sell one inpatient behavioral health care facility and two Lontracts with Puerto Rican juvenile

justice agency to manage inpatient facilities were terminated in 2008 We disposed of one inpatient behavioral health care facility in

2007 In accordance with SFAS 144 these operations net of income tax have been presented as discontinued operations and all prior

quarterly data has been reclassified

Our self-insured reserves for general and professional liability risks increased approximately $4.9 million at December 31 2008 as

compared to December 31 2007 primarily as result of the revised assessment in the fourth quarter of 2008 of certain claims at

amounts higher than originally anticipated and the actuarial implications of such revisions

We incurred loss on refinancing long-term debt of approximately $8.2 million in the second quarter of 2007

16 Financial Information for the Company and Its Subsidiaries

We conduct substantially all of our business through our subsidiaries Presented below is consolidated financial information for

Psychiatric Solutions Inc and its subsidiaries as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and for the years ended December 31 2008 2007

and 2006 The information segregates the parent company Psychiatric Solutions Inc the combined wholly-owned subsidiary

guarantors the combined non-guarantors and eliminations All of the subsidiary guarantees are both full and unconditional and joint

and several
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31 2008

Dollars in thousands

Combined

Subsidiary

Guarantors

Combined Non- Consolidating

Guarantors Adjustments

11390

7792

15595

34777

57647

69
435
504

9524

Total

Consolidated

Amounts

51271

248236

101363

400870

836223

1201492

66175

2504760

Parent
_________________

39881

240513

86203

366597

788100

1201492

1665813 545345

12633 2506

1678446 1813350

34605

87617

28786 43958

33991

62777 166180

1247156

69471

12433 61852

1322366 173799

356080 _________________

1678446
________________

23526 1096942

27971 23065

96869 1083905

865

1727

3798

423

6813 3600
32850

31688 46002

71351 42402

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Prepaids and other

Total current assets

Property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation

Cost in excess of net assets acquired

Investment in subsidiaries

Other assets

Total assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Other accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt less current portion

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Minority interest

Total stockholders equity deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders equity deficit

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Prepaids and other

Total current assets

Property and equipment net of accumulated depreciation

Cost in excess of net assets acquired

Investment in subsidiaries

Other assets

Total assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Other accrued liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt less current portion

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Minority interest

Total stockholders equity deficit

Total liabilities and stockholders
equity deficit

69 35401

3531 85813

76542

_______________
34414

232170

1280006

69471

________________
28271

1609918

4957

___________________
889885

2504760

4957

1639551 25518 1131264

1813350 96869 1083905

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31 2007

Dollars in thousands

Combined

Parent

Subsidiary Combined Non- Consolidating

Guarantors Guarantors Adjustments

20816

7444

1555

29815

57526

109
444
553

9497

19154

223265

67124

309543

644106

1071275

424137

72062

1672849

30385

80424

36095

146904

Total

Consolidated

Amounts

39970

230600

68235

338805

692135

1071275

75889

2178104

1544533

15441

1559974

25171

5619

30790

1132735

2659

1166184

393790

1559974

20342 1100054

4813 16427

71812 1126531

1059

1657

397
_________________

3355

33273

75

448 30996

20 82101

242 353 61861

________________
6016

180974

1166008

49131

_________________
23090

1419203

4159

_________________
754742

2178104

49131

5636 13550 1245

201671 50178 1170

4159

1471178 21634 1131860

1672849 71812 1126531
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Twelve Months Ended December31 2008

Dollars in thousands

Combined Total

Subsidiary Combined Non- Consolidating Consolidated

Parent Guarantors Guarantors Adjustments Amounts

Revenue 1714726 63130 11879 1765977

Salaries wages and employee benefits 942784 28520 20 971284

Professional fees 171686 7721 100 179307

Supplies 92678 2410 95088

Rentals and leases 27014 397 4230 23181

Other operating expenses 164347 13397 8182 169562

Provision for doubtful accounts 33705 901 34606

Depreciation and amortization 38347 2269 307 40309

Interest expense 77398 1250 78648

77398 1470561 56865 12839 1591985

Loss income from continuing operations before

income taxes 77398 244165 6265 960 173992

Benefit from provision for income taxes 29411 92783 2381 364 66117

Loss income from continuing operations 47987 151382 3884 596 107875

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 2922 2922
Net loss income 47987 148460 3884 596 104953

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Twelve Months Ended December 312007

Dollars in thousands

Combined Total

Subsidiary Combined Non- Consolidating Consolidated

Parent Guarantors Guarantors Adjustments Amounts

Revenue 1433854 39903 13078 1460679

Salaries wages and employee benefits 794907 15068 2530 812505

Professional fees 141172 4855 1132 144895

Supplies 78960 1227 17 80170

Rentals and leases 24189 221 4006 20404

Other operating expenses 136058 13079 12225 136912

Provision for doubtful accounts 26818 664 27482

Depreciation and amortization 29139 1893 276 30756

Interest expense 73738 1240 74978

Loss on refinancing long-term debt 8179 8179

81917 1231243 38247 15126 1336281

Loss income from continuing operations before

incometaxes 81917 202611 1656 2048 124398

Benefit from provision for income taxes 30972 76606 626 774 47034

Loss income from continuingoperations 50945 126005 1030 1274 77364

Loss fmm discontinued operations net oftaxes 1156 1156
Net loss income 50945 124849 1030 1274 76208
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

For the Three Months Ended December31 2006

Dollars in thousands

Revenue

Salaries wages and employee benefits

Professional fees

Supplies

Rentals and leases

Other operating expenses

Provision for doubtfi.il accounts

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Loss income from continuing operations before

income taxes

Benefit from provision for income taxes

Loss income from continuing operations

Loss frum discontinued operations net of taxes

Net loss income

Operating activities

Net loss income

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net

cash used in provided by operating
activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of loan costs and bond premium

Share-based compensation

Change in income tax assets and liabilities

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of

effect of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Prepaids and other current assets

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities

Net cash used in provided by continuing operating
activities

Net cash used in discontinued operating activities

Net cash used in provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired

Capital purchases of property and equipment

Other assets

Net cash used in continuing investing activities

Net cash provided by discontinued investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Net increase in revolving credit facility

Principal payments on long-term debt

Payment of loan and issuance costs

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements

Net transfers to and from members

Proceeds from exercises of common stock options

Net cash provided by used in financing
activities

Net decrease in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Combined

Subsidiary

Guarantors

1004422

567762

94889

57207

12801

97115

19437

19487

39101 135724

14764 51247

24337 84477

377
24337 84100

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31 2008

Dollars in thousands

166156

5783 4386
2184 1656
3599 2730

3599 2730

Combined Non- Consolidating

Guarantors Adjustments

5244

166156 118019 2040

149333

5669 398

59
3052

59443

9474

215574 62338 _________________

20727

19154 _______________
39881

________________

Total

Consolidated

Amounts

1004422

567762

94907

57207

12801

93652

19437

20333

40303

906402

Parent

Combined Non
Guarantors

11601

Consolidating

Adjustments

11601

1023 1005

2504 5967

1089 243
39101 1202

39101 868698 5818 7215

98020

_________________ ________________ ________________ ________________
37011

61009

__________________ __________________ _________________ _________________
377

60632

Combined Total

Subsidiary Consolidated

Parent Guarantors
_________________

Amounts

47987 148460 3884 596 104953

38347 2269 307 40309

2168 45 2213

19913 19913

5034 5034
2922 2922

16408 348 16756

9865 14040 4175
2582 194 2388

1653 70 1723

3599 409 1858 5866
49418 201891 10172 289 142590

807 807

49418 201084 10172 289 141783

166156 166156

121595 2390 123985

_________________
1668 350 1318

123263 2040 291459

5244

286215

149333

6067
59

3052

3184 289

9474

_________________ _________________
2786 289 155733

9426 11301

________________
20816 39970

11390 51271

62338
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31 2007

Dollars in thousands

Operating activities

Net loss income

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net

cash provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of loan costs and bond premium

Share-based compensation

Loss on refinancing long-term debt

Change in income tax assets and liabilities

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of

effect of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Prepaids and other current assets

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities

Net cash provided by used in continuing operating activities

Net cash used in discontinued operating activities

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired

Capital purchases of property and equipment

Other assets

Net cash used in continuing investing activites

Net cash provided by discontinued investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Net increase in revolving credit
facility

Borrowings on long-term debt

Principal payments on long-term debt

Payment of loan and issuance costs

Refinancing of long-term debt

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements

Net transfers to and from members

Proceeds from exercises of common stock
options

Net cash provided by used in financing activities

Net decrease increase in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash
equivalents at end of period

1134

29695 148650

462820

21000
481875

40936

6661
7127

59048

15990

3164

19154

Combined

Subsidiary

Parent Guarantors

50945 124849

29139

2106

16104

Combined Non- Consolidating

Guarantors Adjustments

Total

Consolidated

Amounts

1030 1274 76208

1893 276 30756

45 2151

16104

8179

8639

1156

8179

8193 446

1156

13965 578 13387
5716 377 6093

7026 491 7517
2087 264 2351

10965 18737 1426 6346
29695 147516 5568 998 124387

462820

462820

72655

2866
75521

1909

73612

59048

1134

5568 998 125521

462820

567 73222
415 2451

152 538493

1909

152 536584

21000
481875

345 41281

6661
7127
9428

389 998
17279

44 998 432513

5460 21450

15356 18520

20816 39970

9428

59657

17279

492515
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31 2006

Dollars in thousands

Combined

Subsidiary Combined Non-

Parent Guarantors Guarantors _________________ _________________

Operating activities

Net loss income

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net

cash provided by used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of loan costs and bond premium

Share-based compensation

Loss on refinancing long-term debt

Change in income tax assets and liabilities

Loss from discontinued operations net of taxes

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of

effect of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Prepaids and other current assets

Accounts payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Accrued liabilities and other liabilities
__________________ __________________ __________________ __________________ __________________

Net cash provided by used in continuing operating activities

Net cash used in discontinued operating activities
__________________ __________________

Net cash provided by used in operating activities

Investing activities

Cash paid for acquisitions net of cash acquired

Capital purchases of property and equipment

Other assets
____________________ ___________________ ___________________ ___________________ ___________________

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Net increase in revolving credit facility

Borrowings on long-term debt

Principal payments on long-term debt

Payment of loan and issuance costs

Refinancing of long-term debt

Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements

Net transfers to and from members

Proceeds from exercises of common stock options ________________ ________________ ________________ ________________

Net cash provided by used in financing activities
__________________

Net decrease increase in cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ________________

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
_________________ _________________ _________________ _________________ _________________

17 Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS
157 SFAS 157 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States and expands disclosures about fair value measurements We adopted the provisions of SFAS

157 as of January 2008 for financial instruments The adoption of SFAS 157 did not materially impact our financial statements but

does require us to provide additional disclosures

SFAS 157 prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels Level is quoted prices in

active markets for identical assets and liabilities Level is significant inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either

directly or indirectly observable Level is unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists

Our interest rate swap is required to be measured at fair value on recurring basis Our interest rate swap agreement is with private

party and is not traded on public exchange The fair value of our interest rate swap agreement is determined based on inputs that are

readily available in public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets Therefore we have

categorized the inputs to value our interest rate swap agreement as Level which are consistently applied

Consolidating

Adjustments

Total

Consolidated

Amounts

19487

12535

1089

45

35205

243

377

117

8475
11504

227

1210

24337 84100 3599 2730 60632

20333

1627 1672

12535

35322

377

8475
10294

227

5294

5259

2973 122882

971

2973 123853

385078

33816 33816

594

419488

101000 101000

150000 150000

187 278 465

1576 1576

5294

289 3393 2155

22999 140639 8215

971

22999 141610 8215

385078

611 17

385078 34427 17

4354 4354

148177 147967 3183 2973

6309 6309

408077 147967 3461 2973 259622

40784 4771 36013

43948 10585 54533

3164 15356 18520
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18 Subsequent Event

In February 2009 our revolving credit facility was amended to extend the maturity of $200 million capacity of our revolving credit

facility to December 31 2011 The remaining $100 million capacity under our revolving credit facility will mature on December21
2009 as originally scheduled This amendment changes the interest rate on borrowings under our revolving credit facility to LIBOR

plus an agreed upon spread ranging from 5.0% to 5.75% or prime plus an agreed upon spread ranging from 4.0% to 4.75% depending

upon leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement In addition the commitment fee on the unused portion of our revolving

credit facility will fluctuate between 0.75% and 1.0% based upon leverage ratio Additionally on February 25 2009 we used

excess cash to reduce the outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility to 195.0 million
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this report

to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Psychiatric Solutions Inc

By Is Joey Jacobs

Joey Jacobs

Chief Executive Officer

Dated February 25 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on

behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

Is Joey Jacobs Chairman of the Board President February 25 2009

and Chief Executive Officer Principal

Joey Jacobs
Executive Officer

Is Jack Poison Executive Vice President Chief February 25 2009

Accounting Officer Principal Financial

Jack Polson
and Accounting Officer

Is Mark Clein Director February 25 2009

Mark Clein

Is David Dill Director February 25 2009

David Dill

Is Richard Gore Director February 25 2009

Richard Gore

Is Christopher Grant Jr Director February 25 2009

Christopher Grant Jr

Is William Petrie M.D Director February 25 2009

William Petrie M.D

Is Edward Wissing Director February 25 2009

Edward Wissing
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Joey Jacobs

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Terrance Bridges

Co-Chief Operating Officer

Ronald Fincher

Co-Chief Operating Officer

Jack Poison

Executive Vice President Chief Accounting Officer

Brent Turner

Executive Vice President Finance and

Administration

Christopher Howard

Executive Vice President General Counsel and

Secretary

Mark Ciein

Director

President and Chief Financial Officer

United BioSource Corporation

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Office

Psychiatric Solutions Inc

6640 Carothers Parkway Suite 500

Franklin Tennessee 37067

615 312-5700

www.psysolutions.com

Registrar and Transfer Agent

StockTrans Inc

44 Lancaster Avenue

Ardmore Pennsylvania 19003

610 649-7300

Independent Auditors

Ernst Young LLP

Nashville Tennessee

David Dill

Director

Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

LifePoint Hospitals Inc

Richard Gore

Director

Former Chief Executive Officer and President

Attentus Healthcare Corporation

Christopher Grant Jr

Director

President

Salix Management Corporation

William Petrie M.D
Director

President

Psychiatric Consultants P.C

Edward Wissing

Director

Founder and Former Chief Executive Officer

American HomePatient Inc

Form 10-K/Investor Contact

copy of the Psychiatric Solutions Inc Form

10-K for fiscal 2008 filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission is available on the

Companys web site at www.psysolutions.com

It is also available without exhibits from the

Company at no charge Requests and other

investor contacts should be directed to Brent

Turner Executive Vice President Finance and

Administration at the Companys corporate
office

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held on

Tuesday May 19 2009 at 800 a.m Eastern Time

at the Companys Louisville Kentucky facility

known as The Brook-KMI located at 8521

LaGrange Road Louisville Kentucky 40242
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